University of Windsor Scholarship at UWindsor

Electronic Theses and Dissertations

Theses, Dissertations, and Major Papers

2012

Women and Educational Leadership: Exploring the Experiences of Current and Aspiring Female Educational Administrators

Kimberly Crosby-Hillier University of Windsor

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholar.uwindsor.ca/etd

Recommended Citation

Crosby-Hillier, Kimberly, "Women and Educational Leadership: Exploring the Experiences of Current and Aspiring Female Educational Administrators" (2012). *Electronic Theses and Dissertations*. 243. https://scholar.uwindsor.ca/etd/243

This online database contains the full-text of PhD dissertations and Masters' theses of University of Windsor students from 1954 forward. These documents are made available for personal study and research purposes only, in accordance with the Canadian Copyright Act and the Creative Commons license—CC BY-NC-ND (Attribution, Non-Commercial, No Derivative Works). Under this license, works must always be attributed to the copyright holder (original author), cannot be used for any commercial purposes, and may not be altered. Any other use would require the permission of the copyright holder. Students may inquire about withdrawing their dissertation and/or thesis from this database. For additional inquiries, please contact the repository administrator via email (scholarship@uwindsor.ca) or by telephone at 519-253-3000ext. 3208.

Women and Educational Leadership: Exploring the Experiences of Current and Aspiring Female Educational Administrators

> by Kimberly Crosby-Hillier

A Thesis Submitted to the Faculty of Graduate Studies Through Education in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree of Master of Education at the University of Windsor

Windsor, Ontario, Canada 2012

© 2012 Kimberly Crosby-Hillier

Women & Educational Leadership: Exploring the Experiences of Current and Aspiring Female Educational Administrators

by

Kimberly Crosby-Hillier

APPROVED BY:

Dr. P. Milne

Faculty of Arts and Social Sciences

Dr. B. Egbo

Faculty of Education

Dr. C. Greig, Advisor

Faculty of Education

Dr. D. Stanley, Chair of Defence

Faculty of Education

(June 12, 2012)

AUTHOR'S DECLARATION OF ORIGINALITY

I hereby certify that I am the sole author of this thesis and that no part of this thesis has been published or submitted for publication.

I certify that, to the best of my knowledge, my thesis does not infringe upon anyone's copyright nor violate any proprietary rights and that any ideas, techniques, quotations, or any other material from the work of other people included in my thesis, published or otherwise, are fully acknowledged in accordance with the standard referencing practices. Furthermore, to the extent that I have included copyrighted material that surpasses the bounds of fair dealing within the meaning of the Canada Copyright Act, I certify that I have obtained a written permission from the copyright owner(s) to include such material(s) in my thesis and have included copies of such copyright clearances to my appendix.

I declare that this is a true copy of my thesis, including any final revisions, as approved by my thesis committee and the Graduate Studies office, and that this thesis has not been submitted for a higher degree to any other University or Institution.

ABSTRACT

The increasing number of women participating in the paid workforce has been one of the dominant social trends in Canada over the last half century. While women have made tremendous strides in labour participation, the proportion of women in top-tier educational leadership positions remains a concern. The purpose of this mixedmethods research study is to explore the experiences of current and aspiring female educational administrators, utilizing a feminist theoretical perspective. This study explores the experiences of ten female educators: six aspiring female educational administrators and four current educational administrators, drawn from a local school board in Southwestern Ontario. Results of the semi-structured interviews and supplemental Likert-scale survey indicate four key themes influenced by gender relations, in the participants' experiences: (1) Intersection of Work and Family; (2) Mentoring Opportunities and Access to Resources; (3) Women's Work Relationships; and (4) Gender Politics. By drawing attention to the gendered experiences women encounter while pursuing and maintaining educational leadership positions, this study helps pave the way forward for teachers, administrators, policy makers and others interested in bringing about the aims of gender justice.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Throughout my undergraduate and graduate student career at the University of Windsor, I have been very fortunate to have incredible professors who have been an inspiration and catalyst in my passion for learning. I would like to take the time to thank these individuals and those who have made this journey possible.

First and foremost, I would like to thank my advisor, Dr. Christopher Greig. Dr. Greig, over the past year, you have been an incredible mentor and have demonstrated your commendable knowledge, patience, and professionalism. I have been fortunate to have you as both a professor and advisor. You have made this journey enjoyable and have amplified my passion for the topic of gender relations. Your assistance and time has never gone unnoticed and I am forever grateful for the encouragement you have provided me.

My sincere gratitude also extends to members of my thesis committee: my second reader, Dr. Benedicta Egbo and my external reader, Dr. Pamela Milne. Having such successful, intelligent, and charismatic women as a part of this committee is an incredible honour. I am grateful for your time, knowledge, and all of the input you have offered. Dr. Egbo, it was in your Theories of Educational Administration course that I first began to discover my passion for the topic of women and educational leadership. Your instruction was and still is a significant inspiration in wanting to explore this fascinating topic. Dr. Milne, I was also fortunate to have you as a professor during my years as an undergraduate student. Your passion and dedication to Women's Studies is contagious and admirable. I hold each of you to the highest regard and admire your accomplishments.

V

I would also like to extend a special thank you to Dr. Darren Stanley. Dr. Stanley, it has been a pleasure having you as a professor and a source of support. Thank you chairing my thesis defence and for always making time in your demanding schedule to meet with me and provide me with direction, information, and encouragement. Also, thank you Gayle Tait, our graduate secretary, whose hard work, efficiency, and support has also never gone unnoticed over the years.

To the women who gave their time and offered to share their experiences... Without your participation and eagerness to be a part of this study, the completion of this thesis would not have been possible. I appreciate your time and courage in sharing your experiences. I hope that this thesis does justice to all you have accomplished and aspire to accomplish, while encouraging a critical reflection on the topic of women and educational leadership. Each of you demonstrates a passion for learning, education, leadership, and most importantly, your staff and students. It is an honour to share your experiences and include each of your stories in this thesis.

I cannot forget to acknowledge and thank my amazing family. I would especially like to acknowledge the leading women in my life, my mother Lucy and grandmother Flavia. Mom, no words could ever express how grateful I am for all you have done and continue to do. You have always encouraged me to achieve my dreams. You are an incredible mother, friend, and woman. I share this accomplishment with you in honour of all you have done for me. Vovó, você é uma bênção para a família. Está como uma mulher corajosa, forte e corajoso. Sempre admirei sua força e determinação. Você é uma mulher que eu respeito e eu olhar para

vi

cima. Admiro seus valores, ética de trabalho, e atitude positiva. Você tem sido um exemplo maravilhoso para olhar para cima.

My sincerest gratitude and unconditional love also extends to my supportive and beloved husband Matthew. Matt, over the years, you have been an insurmountable source of support, strength, and encouragement. Throughout our journey and during the process of writing this thesis, you have been right by my side through the greatest moments and also the most challenging. You have singlehandedly taken on so many additional responsibilities, so that I can focus solely on my career and education. You respect my individuality and inspire me to achieve my dreams. Since my appreciation and gratefulness for the love and support you provide each day cannot be rightfully expressed in a short paragraph, I will always uphold my gratitude during our lifetime together. Thank you for always knowing and expressing your belief that I could accomplish this goal, even if at times, I doubted my own capabilities.

AUTHOR'S DECLARATION OF ORIGINALITY iii
ABSTRACT iv
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTSv
LIST OF TABLES xi
LIST OF APPENDICES xii
CHAPTER
I. INTRODUCTION
Introduction to the Study 1
Background and Context: Educational Leadership Trends 2
Female Representation: Elementary Versus Secondary School Leadership
and Representation
Key Terms11
Purpose of the Study 12
Research Questions
Theoretical Framework 14
Importance of the Study
Scope/Limitations of the Study
Holistic Reflexivity
II. REVIEW OF THE LITERATURE
Key Barriers
Conclusion
III. METHODOLOGY AND PROCEDURES

TABLE OF CONTENTS

	Description of the Study	47
	Mixed-Methods Research	. 47
	Incorporating Quantitative Methods in Feminist Research	48
	Phenomenology	50
	Feminist Research	. 52
	Participant Selection	53
	The Participants	54
	Data Collection	57
	Data Analysis and Procedures	60
	Ethical Considerations	62
	Conclusion	63
IV.	FINDINGS AND ANALYSIS	. 65
	Educational Leadership and The Intersection of Work and Family	65
	Educational Leadership and Females' Access to Resources	75
	Mentoring: Current Female Administrators	79
	Networking: Current Female Educational Administrators	84
	Networking: Aspiring Female Educational Administrators	87
	Mentoring: Aspiring Female Educational Administrators	89
	Female Work Relationships and Educational Leadership	91
	Gender Politics	97
	Conclusion	102
V.	DISCUSSION	04
	Review of Major Findings and the Research Questions	.04

Suggestions for Future Research	109
Recommendations for Future Practice and Policy	10
Conclusion	112
REFERENCES	114
APPENDICES	129
APPENDIX A: Summary of Ontario College of Teachers' Principa	1
Qualification Program	129
APPENDIX B: Summary of the Ontario Ministry of Education's Be	oard
Leadership Developmental Strategy for Current Educational	
Administrators	131
APPENDIX C: Summary of Participants' Respective School Board	
Mentoring Program for Aspiring Educational Administrators	133
APPENDIX D: Letter of Information to Participate in Research	135
APPENDIX E: Consent to Participate in Research	138
APPENDIX F: Survey for Current Female Educational	
Administrators	141
APPENDIX G: Survey for Aspiring Female Educational	
Administrators	144
APPENDIX H: Consent for Audio Taping of the Semi-Structured	
Interview	147
APPENDIX I: Semi-Structured Interview Protocol	148
APPENDIX J: List of Local Mental Health Agencies	151
VITA AUCTORIS	152

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1: Percentage of Secondary School Positions Held by Women in Ontario from1994-2000 (Ontario Ministry of Education).

Table 2: Percentage of Secondary School Positions Held by Women in Ontario from2000-2010 (Continued) (Ontario Ministry of Education).

Table 3: Members with Principal Qualifications (by Gender) from 1998-2008

(Ontario College of Teachers, 2008)

Table 4: Members with Supervisory Officer Qualifications (by Gender) from 1998-

2008 (Ontario College of Teachers, 2008)

 Table 5: Summary of Demographic Information from Aspiring Female Educational

 Administrators

 Table 6: Summary of Demographic Information from Current Female Educational

 Administrators

LIST OF APPENDICES

APPENDIX A: Summary of Ontario College of Teachers' Principal Qualification Program

APPENDIX B: Summary of the Ontario Ministry of Education's Board Leadership

Developmental Strategy for Current Educational Administrators

APPENDIX C: Summary of Participants' Respective School Board Mentoring

Program for Aspiring Educational Administrators

APPENDIX D: Letter of Information to Participate in Research

APPENDIX E: Consent to Participate in Semi-Structured Interview

APPENDIX F: Survey for Current Female Educational Administrators

APPENDIX G: Survey for Aspiring Female Educational Administrators

APPENDIX H: Consent for Audio Taping of the Semi-Structured Interview

APPENDIX I: Semi-Structured Interview Protocol

APPENDIX J: List of Local Mental Health Agencies

CHAPTER I

INTRODUCTION

Introduction to the Study

This thesis explores the experiences of current and aspiring female educational administrators within the Ontario context, and argues that gender plays a complex role in shaping the relationship between women and leadership. While recognizing that we have, over the past two decades witnessed a rise in numbers of female educational administrators, this thesis highlights how women are far from barrier-free in securing a leadership role; relations of power between genders and within a gender circulate in ways that create both old and new barriers for women who aspire or occupy leadership positions. While facing well-established and wellknown gender barriers such as the "double day," some female administrators spoke about being undermined or sabotaged by other women in their pursuit of leadership, something they did not expect.

Employing a feminist perspective, which views gender as a social, cultural, and historical construct (Blackmore, 2006; Butler, 1990; Connell, 1995) and situated in relations of power, this study explores the lived experiences of 10 women: six aspiring female educators and four current educational administrators. Through semistructured interviews and administering a Likert-scale survey, their experiences are explored, examined, and compared in order to shed light on gender and gender relations. Results of this study demonstrate that gender is a key factor that influences the experiences women encounter when pursuing, or occupying an educational leadership position. The influence of gender and gender relations was most evident

during discussions of work and family, mentoring and networking, women's work relationships, and broader issues surrounding gender politics.

Background and Context: Educational Leadership Trends

As an educator interested in addressing issues of equity, I find the current statistics and literature on women and educational leadership encouraging, yet disheartening. Encouraging in that recent trends show an increase in the proportion of females in various educational leadership positions; disheartening as there are differences across areas of formal leadership (i.e., school board director, elementary versus secondary school leadership positions). It is acknowledged that the numbers have indeed increased for women's representation in educational leadership. For example, in 1998, a mere 28% of secondary school principals were women, which increased to 48.3% in 2008-2009, yet this increase has not been reflected in the highest positions of educational leadership, such as superintendent or Director of Education levels in Ontario school boards (Ontario College of Teachers, 2010). The lower numbers of females in top-tier school board leadership positions presents a problem, as representations of system leadership are indicative of the state of educational administration (Blackmore, 2006).

Female Representation: Elementary Versus Secondary School Leadership and Representation

Elementary School Leadership Representation. Recent trends on women and elementary educational leadership in Ontario, demonstrate a change over time in women's representation in formal leadership positions. Reflecting broader trends, in 1940, for example, within the Toronto Board of Education, just over 4% (four out of 88) elementary school principals were women. By 1980 little had changed when it came to the gender composition of elementary school leadership with only 14% (15 of 105 elementary principals) of positions occupied by a female (Reynolds, 1995). Today, however, women represent 64.6% elementary school principals and viceprincipals, while men make up only 35.4%. The largest difference can be seen in Roman Catholic School Boards in Ontario, where in 2009-2010, women comprised 19,964 of teaching and administrative positions, in comparison to 4,526 men (Ontario Ministry of Education, 2010). Why then, if so many women are qualified to assume higher leadership positions, are these numbers not reflected or consistent with top-tier school board leadership positions?

Secondary School Leadership Representation. Although the increased number of female leaders at the elementary school level can be viewed as a move toward more equitable school board practices, the picture at secondary school level looks very different. For example, in Ontario, during the 2009-2010 school year, the total number of female secondary school teachers and educational administrators for both public and Roman Catholic schools was 25,120. During the same year, their male counterparts represented a total of 20,907 teachers and educational administrators. When incorporating the number of department heads and classroom teachers in secondary schools (i.e., both public and Roman Catholic school boards), females continued to surpass men representing 54.9%, of the total population (45.1% for males) (Ontario Ministry of Education, 2010). Where the main difference lies when comparing the level of secondary school leadership representation by gender are principal and vice-principal level. During the 2009-2010 school year, females

represented 48.6% of all secondary school principals and vice-principals in Ontario. During the same year, males represented 51.4% secondary school principal and viceprincipals in Ontario, despite the larger proportion of female secondary school teachers. In fact, males have been outnumbering women in secondary school principal and vice principal positions for well over a century (Gelman, 1991). In fact, Gelman (1991), when writing about the Toronto context, points out that it was not until 1930, when gender segregated auxiliary schools, devised by a woman, provided the first two secondary school principalships for women (Gelman, 1991, p. 97). Tables 1 and 2 outline the number of secondary school positions held by females from 1994-2000. Table 1 includes the positions held up to 2000 only, as this data is not strictly comparable to years prior to 2000, due to a change in data collection methods in 2006.

Table 1.

Percentage of Secondary School Positions Held by Females in Ontario from 1994-2000 (Ontario Ministry of Education Quick Facts, 1994-2000)

Year	Classroom Teachers	Department Heads	Principal and Vice- Principals
1994-95	46.6%	36.5%	27.6%
1995-96	47.3%	39.2%	31.2%
1996-97	60.9%	39.5%	33.6%
1997-98	48.7%	41.0%	35.0%
1998-99	51.4%	43.4%	39.7%
1999-00	51.7%	44.8%	40.6%

Table 2.

Percentage of Secondary School Positions Held by Females in Ontario from 2000-

Year	Classroom Teachers	Department Heads	Principal and Vice- Principals
2000-01*	52.7%	45.5%	42.7%
2001-02	53.0%	46.4%	43.1%
2002-03	53.3%	47.8%	44.4%
2003-04	53.8%	47.0%	44.2%
2004-05	54.3%	47.6%	44.7%
2005-06	55.1%	47.9%	46.1%
2006-07**	-	54.1%	46.5%
2007-08	-	54.3%	47.0%
2008-09	-	54.6%	48.3%
2009-10	-	54.9%	48.6%

2010 (Ontario Ministry of Education Quick Facts, 2000-2010)

Tables 1 and 2 demonstrate the complexities of women and educational leadership.

While these tables indeed show an increase in the proportion of women in principal and vice-principal positions from 1994-2010, they also demonstrate that although women comprise over half of the representation of teachers and department heads in most cases, they represent less than half of the representation of vice-principals and principals, demonstrating that there remains a 'quiet' or hidden preference for male principals.

^{*}Data are not strictly comparable with those published in Quick Facts prior to 2000– 01 owing to a change in methodology: data now represent the computed FTE of active full- and part-time teachers and administrators excluding those on leave, rather than headcounts of only full-time staff including those on leave. Data are also not strictly comparable with those for 2005–06 and earlier owing to a change in collection methods, as stated previously. Data exclude teachers and administrators in hospital programs, Provincial Schools, and care, treatment, and correctional facilities. ** Classroom teacher and department head positions began being combined in 2006. Data in table represents the combined total of both of these positions.

This was the case for every year from 1994-2010, and has been the case traditionally for nearly a century (Reynolds et al., 2008).

Principal Qualifications. According to the Ontario College of Teachers' annual reports on the total number of members with their principal qualifications, females have been recently surpassing males. Table 3 outlines the numbers of members with principal qualifications, by gender from 1998-2008.

Table 3.

Members with Principal Qualifications (by Gender) from 1998-2008 (Ontario College of Teachers, 2008)

Year	Males	Females
1998	8,413	7,700
1999	7,832	7,685
2000	7,750	7,978
2001	7,744	8,290
2002	7,646	8,585
2003	7,554	8,842
2004	7,518	9,189
2005	7,563	9,513
2006	7,554	9,698
2007	7,420	9,939
2008	7,355	10,132

In 2001, 8,209 females and 7,744 males obtained their principal qualifications. In 2002, 8,585 women in comparison to 7,646 men obtained their principal's qualification. This trend continues up to and including the year 2008, when 10,132 women and only 7,355 men obtained their principal's qualifications. In fact, the proportion of males with principal's qualifications actually decreased from 8,413 in 1998 to 7,355, a decrease of approximately 106 men/year. The representation between men and women widened over the eight-year period, with females far exceeding males by 2009. Table 3 demonstrates that although more women have their Principal Qualifications, the numbers of principals are more or less equal (see Table 3, 4). This further supports the argument that although more women have entered into educational leadership, there still seems to remain a quiet or hidden preference for male principals.

Supervisory Officer Qualifications. In Ontario, Ontario College of Teachers (OCT) members who have a minimum of five years of teaching experience and have a master's degree are able to register for the Supervisory Officer's Qualification Program. The Supervisory Officer's Qualification enables members to be responsible for positions such as superintendent, assistant superintendents and director (OCT, 2008). The data for members with this qualification also depict an increase in the number of females obtaining these qualifications, yet the utilization of this qualification differs. For example, from 1998-2001, males had a higher rate of Supervisory Officer's Qualification became similar. Commencing in 2004, females obtained more supervisory officer's qualifications than males. This trend remained consistent into 2008 with 961 females obtaining the qualification in comparison to 830 males (OCT, 2008). Table 4 outlines the numbers of members with supervisory officer qualifications, by gender, from 1998-2008.

Table 4.

Members with Supervisory Officer Qualifications (by Gender) from 1998-2008 (Ontario College of Teachers, 2008)

Year	Males	Females
1998	1,210	925
1999	1,037	881
2000	1,002	879
2001	968	896
2002	938	927
2003	908	903
2004	881	919
2005	872	933
2006	856	931
2007	833	943
2008	830	961

In addition to the gendered differences between those qualified for an educational leadership position and those that are active in that position, differences are also evident in national statistics indicating the level of educational leadership positions (i.e., elementary and secondary school leadership). According to a 2004-2005 Statistics Canada profile of elementary and secondary school principals in Canada, gender differences were found between the number of principalships held, as well as the school level in which these principalships were employed. During the 2004-2005 school year approximately 8,000 men and 7,000 women were principals at elementary and secondary school in Canada. At the elementary school level, female principals accounted for 53% of principals while men accounted for 68% of secondary school principal positions. Additionally, although women hold

approximately three in four teaching positions in Canada, only one in five women are superintendents (Statistics Canada, 2008). Statistical data also indicate that despite women's increase in post-secondary education, their earnings, occupational category and intensity of participation continue to vary from men's.

As women continue to increase their investment in post-secondary education (Statistics Canada, 2011), one would assume that their ascension to senior leadership positions and relative earnings would reflect their preparation. In 2010, more women (71.4%) than men (64.5%) aged 25 to 44 years of age had completed post-secondary education. In fact, women comprise the majority of undergraduate enrollments and graduates in industrialized countries and are catching up in developing countries (Cheung & Halpern, 2010). However, despite high levels of academic preparedness, women are still more likely than men to work part time and earn less (Statistics Canada, 2001; Brodie & Bakker, 2008; Statistics Canada, 2006). Also worth noting is the fact that although women comprise the majority of post-secondary students and academic institution employees, top executive administrators are predominantly male (Eddy & Cox, 2008). There are also more women than men in mid-level management positions in organizations, which have created an overflow of managers ready for advancement to elite positions (Cheung & Halpern, 2010). This overflow and stalled progression of qualified women into top-tier leadership positions, has been referred to as the "pipeline" (Cheung & Halpern, 2010). Even when controlling for various factors that have been attributed to women's lower earnings, women are still at a disadvantage, as demonstrated by Drolet (2003).

In 1998, the female to male Canadian earnings ratio was 0.63. Women's shorter work histories, job responsibilities, education, and major field of study were contributing factors in this wage gap (Drolet, 2003). However, after controlling for these factors, the ratio adjusted slightly to 0.85, leaving a large proportion of the wage gap left unaccounted for (Drolet, 2003). A decade later in 2008, women still had lower average annual earnings from paid work than men. This figure is considerably lower for single parent families headed by females (Statistics Canada, 2008).

In 2008, women earned approximately 65 % of what men earned (Statistics Canada, 2008). A continuing explanation for this gap is that women are less likely than their male counterparts to work full-time. However, also in 2008, women in full-time, full-year basis employment earned about 71 cents for each dollar earned by men (Lu & Morissette, 2010). Further, although the earnings gender gap slightly decreases for women as their educational level increases, women working full time with a university degree earned about 30% less than men with a university degree (Lu & Morissette, 2010). In addition to the gender gap in earnings and employment status, the literature also demonstrates a gap in promotions to top-tier leadership positions between females and males (Chenier & Wohlbold, 2011; Timberlake, 2005; Strohs, 2008).

This research aims to investigate the experiences of current and aspiring female educational administrators in a Southwestern Ontario school board. Female elementary and secondary school administrators will have the opportunity to discuss their experiences as educators and their quest to become an educational administrator. Situated within the context of this particular Southwestern Ontario school board, the

experiences of the female participants will be discussed and analyzed in an attempt to understand the status of women and educational leadership.

Key Terms

Before continuing, the key terms will be defined to help facilitate an understanding of what this study means when referring to the following terms: *female* educational administrator, leadership, experienced, phenomenology, and barriers and/or challenges. This research will refer to female educational administrators as vice principals, principals, and superintendents currently employed with their respective school board and active in their current position. It is assumed that in accordance with the Ontario College of Teachers' additional qualification requirements, vice principals have completed part one of the Principal's Qualifications ourse. Principals are expected to have completed both part one and part two of the Principal's Qualification course. Superintendents must have completed their supervisory officer's qualification certification and the required years of experience (Ontario College of Teachers, 2011). For purposes of this study, *leadership* can be defined as the educational purpose of guiding and directing teaching and learning to improve "educational outcomes" for all students by those who have obtained the mandatory qualifications to do so (see educational administrator definition) (Bush, 2003; Robinson, Hohepa & Lloyd, 2009). It is recognized that the term "leadership" like social justice, is a conceptual category that emerges out of contestation over meaning, which is part of a web that is interconnected to social power (Blackmore, 2006). Leadership, therefore, needs to be understood as a gendered concept, which "has been produced discursively out of, and

in turn represents, a particular set of economic, political and social relations, and therefore marked by temporal discursive shifts" (Blackmore, 2006, p.185). The term *leadership* in this study also encompasses gendered power relations that impact the aims and goals of those interested in addressing issues of social justice (Blackmore, 2006). *Phenomenology* refers to a research tradition or strategy that focuses on the lived experiences of human experience (Van Manen, 2007). It involves thoughtful reflection on that experience and the meaning individuals attach to that given experience (Van Manen, 2007). The term *experienced* in this study will refer to the completion of five years of teaching and a minimum of one full year in their leadership position. Five years has been chosen as the cut off for teacher experience due to the Ontario College of Teachers' minimum years of teaching requirement to apply for admission to the principal's qualification course. Lastly, the terms *barriers* or challenges will refer to the obstacles that may prevent female educational administrators from entering into upper levels of leadership and management (Strohs, 2008).

Purpose of the Study

The purpose of this study is to explore and examine the experiences of two groups of women educators: current educational administrators and aspiring educational administrators. Women who are active in their educational leadership positions have been successful in their attempts and have overcome any preliminary challenges that they may have encountered while applying for the position. By including those who are not currently active in the study, but who are seeking a formal educational leadership position, allows the reader to understand the

experiences women encounter even before they are active educational administrators (e.g., mentoring, applying for the position, preparation opportunities). Failing to include women who have not yet obtained an educational leadership position, but have demonstrated a desire to do so, jeopardizes a complete understanding of gender relations for aspiring educational administrators. Also, women who were part of the aspiring educational administrator participant group were currently active in their respective school board's mentorship program, which added current insight about the mentoring opportunities and level of preparation given.

In order to explore the relationship between gender and leadership, 10 participants from a local Southwestern Ontario school board were selected and interviewed. Participants were asked to comment on their experiences pertaining to work and family, mentoring and networking, gender equity, gender stereotyping, and the progression of their teaching/educational leadership career. Lastly, seeking to understand women's experiences as gendered subjects, this study will also challenge patriarchal relations of power, while also serving as an outlet of expression for women in educational leadership.

Research Questions

The central question that will be addressed in this study is as follows: How does gender influences the experiences of female current and aspiring female educational administrators? The guiding questions shaping the study were:

 a) How does gender shape, if at all, the experiences of women who have successfully gone through the process of securing an educational leadership position?

- b) How has gender influenced, and continue to influence, the experiences of female educational administrators?
- c) What role does gender have, if any, in shaping female educator's decisions to pursue an educational leadership position?
- d) How do the experiences of prospective and current educational administrators compare with the existing literature on women and leadership?

Theoretical Framework

This study will adopt a theoretical lens informed by feminist theory (see, for example, Butler, 1990; Connell, 1995; 2000; Harding, 1991, 2004; Smith, 1987, 1990, 2005; Young, 1990), which views gender as a social, historical, and cultural construct (Butler, 1990; Connell, 1995). In other words, femininities, like masculinities, are not a product of biology or some manifestation of 'inner essence'; rather they are socially constructed "configurations of gender practice" (Connell, 1995) created through historical and social processes, situated in patriarchal relations of power, and interact with other social justice factors such as race, social class, bodily ability, and sexuality.

Gender is also performative. Feminist theorists such as Judith Butler (1990) have demonstrated that gender is performative, in that being male or female is not "self-evident", or, "natural". Rather, one's gendered identity only appears "natural" through repeated, ongoing performances. For Butler, the performative dimension of gender reproduces and helps create the illusion of an essential gender identity. Moreover, a feminist theory of gender is also interested in and examines the intersectionality of social class, race, sexuality, ableism and other social justice

factors which help complexify and smash the boundaries of what Martino (2008) calls "essentialist mindsets" (Martino, 2008). These essentialist mindsets reduce gender down to an outcome of biology, thereby reproducing patriarchal relations of power.

Moreover, seeking to address structural inequalities (Young, 2011) that produce and reproduce everyday inequities (Smith, 1987), feminist theory supports the premise that women, particularly racialized and minority women are situated within the gender order (Connell, 1995) in ways that exclude them from the ruling apparatus of society (Connell, 2010). That is, a society that is constructed, maintained, regulated and policed by those in dominant patriarchal positionspositions of ruling (Smith, 1990; 2005). All of which work to ensure that women play a secondary role. For example, despite the fact that more women have entered fields formerly dominated by men, sexist patterns of hiring and promotion remain (Abraham, 2010; Dana & Bourisaw, 2006). In an attempt to understand this persisting phenomenon, feminists have developed the theory of "gendered job queues." Gendered job queue theory argues that the most valued jobs are reserved for the men of the dominant racial ethnic group. Once these positions are no longer valued or begin to provide decreased wages, dominant men exit from the position creating opportunities for women or men of disadvantaged racial ethnic groups (Reskin, 2002).

Feminist histories, as feminist theories and politics, focus on domination, marginalization, appropriation, and the 'othering' of any social group (Blackmore, 2006). In so doing, feminism imparts numerous deconstructive possibilities of dominant storylines by challenging dominant categories and unpacking concepts

(e.g., leadership). Additionally, research drawing upon feminist theory can also be reconstructive, as it provides space for voices of the less advantaged and offers alternative representations of leadership through the narratives of marginalized leaders. This study employs feminist theory in a broad way, although always keeping in clear focus patriarchal relations of power and how they are exercised in a way that undermines the lives of women (Connell, 2010).

Feminist theory also aims to give voice to women. Garder et al. (2000) define feminist theory as follows:

...feminist theory validates multiple and diverse perspectives, in particular the values of examining these perspectives to clarify one's own beliefs and values, and for the pedagogical opportunities to help one to consider viewpoints of other individuals. Women learn from other women's voices and experiences (p.29).

By providing an opportunity for female participants to share their experiences, this research supports the fundamental purpose of feminist theory (United Nations, 2011).

Further, feminist theory is also "connected in principle to feminist struggle" (Sprague & Zimmerman, 1993, p. 266). By documenting the lived experiences of female participants in feminist research, the basic structures and ideologies that oppress women are revealed. By creating a safe place where female participants can express their personal experiences with hegemonic masculine power, a sense of understanding and trust can be formed in order to challenge and counter its hegemony. By documenting their lived experiences, this research will further challenge the basic administrative structures and ideologies that oppress women.

According to Hesse-Biber (2007), to engage in research that is grounded in feminist theory, one must challenge knowledge that excludes oppressed groups. Feminist theory asks new questions that place women's lives at the centre of social inquiry, while disrupting traditional ways of knowing to create new meanings. By focusing on the lives and experiences of women, a feminist perspective will serve to illuminate and bring attention to the ways in which women in educational leadership have been discriminated. This may also challenge conventional assumptions that influence social policy. Feminist theory also aims to uncover the politics of gendered and sexualized representation including the historical, social, and political context in which they were produced (Harding, 2004; Hesse-Biber, 2007). By employing a gendered lens in this study, this research will be able to uncover new knowledge and build theory from the participants' lived experiences.

Lastly, feminist theory is committed to challenging patriarchal, racist power and oppression and producing results that are useful and applicable to social justice. A feminist perspective provides space for the exploration of broader questions of social justice, while simultaneously addressing multiple forms of structural inequality (i.e., gender, race, ethnicity, class, and sexuality). Research informed by feminist theory fosters empowerment, liberation, and emancipation for women and other marginalized groups, and is consistent with the broader aims of gender justice (Brooks & Hesse-Biber, 2007). Feminist theory offers insights into the social construction of gender, in particular the relationship between gender and leadership. Broadly understood, feminist theory focuses on the advancement of women as a

group, interrogating sources of gender inequality in order to bring about the aims and goals of gender justice.

Importance of the Study

Although there have been numerous studies on the topic of women and leadership, most studies undertaken have focused on higher education (i.e., university and college) or businesses. For example, many of the Catalyst studies focus on Fortune 500 companies while overlooking other institutions, such as elementary and secondary schools. Although the work of Jill Blackmore and few others stand out as the exceptions, most studies that focus on educational institutions tend to do so at higher academic levels, such as universities and colleges. By focusing primarily on elementary and secondary school female educational administrators' experiences, this study will shed light on the myriad of challenges, possibilities and constraints, faced by female educators in educational leadership today.

This study will also allow other female administrators to express their experiences, which is critical to the goals of feminist theory and research. By including the voices of women from neglected areas of research, this study will accomplish one of the primary objectives of feminist research, which is to "ask new questions that place women's lives at the center of social inquiry" (Hesse-Biber, 2007, p.3). This study will serve to benefit not only females, but also all members of society. By engaging in interactive dialogue with female educational administrators, this research will assist in developing a greater understanding about the social structures that oppress some members of society, while advantaging others. This

study may, in turn, contribute to the social change that is necessary to facilitate change in societal oppression.

Additionally, school board administrators and policy developers will also benefit from the information and dialogue contained in this study. By detailing the experiences of female administrators, their work environments, and perspectives, gender initiatives could be formulated to ensure their needs are being met (e.g., access to resources, mentors, etc.). The information gathered from this research could also serve as a guide to develop strategies that promote the entry of more women into educational leadership positions.

Scope/Limitations of the Study

The primary limitation of this study was sample size. Due to limited resources and limited amount of time, current and aspiring female administrators from only one school board, located in one Ontario city, took part in the study. Because the study was conducted with a small sample size (n=10) the results of this study cannot be generalized to the entire female administrator population or other females who aspire to leadership. The small number of participants will not allow the researcher to make broad generalizations.

Another significant limitation of the study was the demographic composition of the participants. All of the women in this study were white, able-bodied women. This glaring absence of diversity within educational leadership highlights the complex intersectionality between social justice factors such as race, class, gender and their relationship to leadership. To put another way, although the women were facing structural and institutional challenges based on gender, they also benefited from a privilege system based on race, class and ableism. The absence of diversity was an unexpected finding that speaks volumes to the quiet or hidden preference for the traditional male model of leadership (i.e., white, able-bodied men). These demographics further limit the ability to generalize the experiences encountered by the women in this study and therefore, give this study limited external validity.

Finally, the study is limited in that I was not able to enroll senior administrators, female superintendents or school board directors. Enrolling these types of high level decision makers would have added another layer of complexity to the study and most likely would have yielded interesting insights into how gender is worked out in senior levels of administration.

Holistic Reflexivity

Consistent with the feminist theoretical perspective employed throughout this study, this section will explore my own personal reflections relating to this study. A reflexive methodology provides the researcher an opportunity to raise new questions, engage in new kinds of dialogue, and organize different kinds of social relations (Collins, 1998, 2000; Harding, 1991,1993; Smith, 1987). This process of recognizing, examining, and understanding how one's social background, location, and assumptions influence their research is referred to as reflexivity (Hesse-Biber, 2010). Reflexivity also includes the ways in which the researcher's agenda affects the research process (Hesse-Biber, 2010). Locating myself within this research study and topic has been a tremendous opportunity for me to examine and explore various questions and concerns I began asking myself years ago.

As a white, middle-class, able-bodied woman, I acknowledge my position in the area of women and educational leadership. As a novice educator and graduate student, I have been surrounded by literature and experiences that have shaped my perceptions and attitudes concerning the topic of gender and leadership. During my second year as a graduate student at the University of Windsor, I was presented with a reading that discussed the state of women in educational leadership positions. This reading also discussed women's disparity in these roles and explanations as to why women's representation is considerably lower than men's. Although I began to question the representation of women in educational leadership far before reading literature on the subject, it was at this point that I knew this was a topic that I wanted to pursue.

During my elementary school years, I never had a female educational administrator. This remained throughout my high school career as well, until I had a female vice-principal in 1999. Since then, I have noticed a shift in the representation of women in educational leadership positions and have noticed that there are more female principals and vice-principals (mainly at the elementary level). However, there is one area that I still find myself questioning women's representation. This area includes the top-tier positions, mainly board-level leadership, including superintendent and director of education.

During my graduate school career, I began to educate myself further on the topic of gender and educational leadership. I explored these topics separately and then together to be able to understand their dynamic relationship. My passion for this topic has grown over the years and I have emerged myself in the theory, literature, and

statistics. I began developing this study as a means to bring attention to the experiences women had while attempting to secure an educational leadership position and their experiences while active in a current leadership position. I chose to focus on the experiences women encounter in these situations as a means to question why there is a lack of representation in top-tier educational leadership positions. I believe that giving voice to women's experiences will help pave the way to more opportunities for women and society in general and allow the topic to be explored and questioned critically. My thoughts and questions that arose as early as my elementary school years, concerning the lack of women in educational leadership positions, have resonated within me and have become the driving force for my thesis. The women's voices that are included in this study not only provide a closer look into the experiences of current and aspiring female educational administrators, but also provide society with a critical lens to look through, while asking the very same questions I began to ask myself many years ago.

While engaging in the research process, I was cautious about the dangers of self-identifying as an insider or outsider prior to entering the research setting. Feminists argue that researchers can come to understand themselves as subject/object, insider/outsider, by reflexively examining the shifting nature of one's role in the field. As an educator myself, I was always aware of my positionality and maintained a steady balance between the knower and the known (Hesse-Biber & Piatelli, 2007).

While examining the transcripts, field notes, and journal entries that were made after each individual interview, I found that the process of this study was similar to the way I felt about the literature of women and leadership- encouraging;

yet disheartened at times. I felt encouraged by the passion each of the participants expressed for their careers, the level of commitment shown to their roles, and the strength behind each of their stories. Also, by providing women with an opportunity to express their experiences, I often felt that I was "doing justice" to the field of women and educational leadership. However, I also felt at times, that some women expressed views that often perpetuate the stereotyping of women in educational leadership and the resultant limited access to educational leadership positions.

At times, I felt that it was difficult to listen to these thoughts being expressed, as many were inhibiting to women. However, through reflexive listening and approaching interviews as "contextualized conversations" I was better able to understand the experiences of the participants (Stage & Mattson, 2003). I was also disheartened by the experiences women expressed, mainly the sabotaging behaviours that some of the women experienced and their experiences with gender stereotypes. However, when asking myself "how has this study influenced my views of women and educational leadership?" I feel a greater drive to continue to explore the topic as the results have indicated that there is still much to be explored and uncovered. While some studies have indicated that there has been an exhaustive amount of research on the topic of women and leadership, this process has shown that there are experiences that contribute to the literature that, left unexplored, would continue to go unnoticed.

CHAPTER II

REVIEW OF THE LITERATURE

This chapter reviews the literature related to women and leadership. Current literature on women principals reveals that while many school boards, including those in Ontario, are showing increasing numbers of women in educational leadership positions, in particular the elementary panel, barriers remain that prevent full equality across formal leadership positions. This chapter highlights key barriers and constraints faced by female educators. These include: *The Glass Ceiling; Work and Family Conflict; Access to Resources & Mentoring Opportunities; Male Power Structure; Gender Stereotypes; Perceptions of Female Leadership Effectiveness; Cross-Cultural Comparisons of Women and Leadership;* and *Race and Leadership.* An overview of these key barriers aims to facilitate an understanding of the complexities involved in gender and leadership, as well as information that clarifies the differences of levels of participation in leadership between males and females.

Drawing upon a variety of contexts (i.e., higher academia, business, educational leadership, management), this chapter will provide a broad overview of the experiences women encounter on their journey to the higher echelons of leadership. Although this thesis focuses specifically on educational leadership, an understanding of the traditional challenges women in leadership positions face is imperative and contextualizes the common hurdles women have experienced and continue to experience. The key barriers outlined in this chapter are comparable and similar to those in educational leadership and draw attention to the complex

relationship and 'messiness' (Shakeshaft, 1989; Blackmore, 2006; Wallace, 2005) of a feminist analysis of gender and leadership.

Key Barriers

The Glass Ceiling. The glass ceiling metaphor has been used explain gender inequities faced by women in institutional contexts. Since the term "glass ceiling" was first coined in 1984, women have made great progress in terms of leadership equality with men in the workplace (da Costa Barreto, Barreto, Ryan, & Schmidt, 2009). However, women are still underrepresented in the upper echelons of these same organizations. The glass ceiling metaphor emphasizes the notion that invisible and unseen structural patterns of gender discrimination prevent women from ascending into the most prestigious, well-paying senior leadership positions (Kellerman & Rhode, 2007). Data demonstrating women's slower ascension into top-tier leadership positions, lower earnings, fewer academically based awards, and lesser representation in top-tier leadership positions are all examples of how the glass ceiling functions and limits women's potential (Valian, 2005). Glass ceilings and walls are systematically constructed as a consequence of cultural beliefs, behaviours, and practices (Kellerman & Rhode, 2007). For this study, the lower numbers of women in senior leadership positions within school boards can be understood as an outcome of the 'glass ceiling.' Or, to take another example, although women comprise more than half of all management and professional positions, a mere 3.8% of women hold senior positions in Fortune 500 companies (Catalyst, 2010). The amount is even lower for non-white women.

An array of literature (da Costa et al., 2009; Eagly, 2007; Hoyt, 2005; Pichler,

Simpson & Stroh, 2008; Kellerman & Rhode, 2007) continues to demonstrate that the advancement of women into senior leadership positions is much slower than it is for men, that women earn substantially lower salaries, and that fewer academically based awards are given to women (Eagly, 2007). It can also be viewed as a metaphor for the levels of leadership to which women have not been permitted (Eagly, 2007). Additionally, Meyerson (2004) views the glass ceiling as a small portion of the barriers faced by women as she states, "It's not just the glass ceiling that's holding women back; it's the whole structure of the organizations in which we work: the foundation, the beams, the walls, the very air" (p. 8; as cited in Dana & Bourisaw, 2006). The glass ceiling reminds individuals that while society has undergone significant changes when it comes to gender equality, there remain barriers and constraints for the advancement of women into educational leadership positions, as well as other fields.

Other researchers have found that women may also experience what is referred to as a "psychological glass ceiling" (Kellerman & Rhode, 2007). Shaped by gender-based socialization, the term psychological glass ceiling refers to the way in which women themselves have internalized a patriarchal gender ideology which, when acted out, undermines their own chances at securing leadership positions. Unlike their male counter parts, women appear less willing to engage in selfpromoting or assertive behaviours, or seem less willing to take risks that will propel their leadership roles, and have a greater fear of failure. For example, while selfpromotion can convey status and competence, it is not at all communal. So while men can use bluster to get noticed, modesty is expected even of highly accomplished

women (Eagly & Carli, 2007). Further, because women are perceived to be less competent, ambitious, and competitive (i.e., less agentic) than men, they may be overlooked for leadership positions unless they successfully present themselves as atypical women. However, engaging in such behaviour defies the prescriptive nature of gender stereotypes, which can result in negative reactions to female agency and authority (i.e., backlash) (Rudman & Phelan, 2008).

Work and Family Conflict. A common explanation for women's underrepresentation in leadership positions centres on work and family conflict. A version of this explanation made an early appearance in Betty Friedan's *Feminine Mystique*, which focused on the ways in which work and home cultures failed to provide women with a choice for balancing these two obligations. The choice was clear for women: it was one or the other. In response to Friedan's attention to work and home cultures as contributing factors to women's underrepresentation, other researchers have pointed out how some women are simply rejecting leadership roles for a greater focus on family, a decision that inherently affects their long-term career paths (Kellerman & Rhode, 2007). For example, the timing of a woman's choice to have children can often delay the completion of their undergraduate or graduate education, which ultimately leads to higher career advancement. This choice subsequently prevents women from ascending into higher-level positions that require a higher level of education (Kellerman & Rhode, 2007). The common conflicts and implications of family life, primarily on women's careers, include: time-based conflict (the time required to manage both roles), strain-based conflict (the spillover

of the two roles), and behaviour-based conflict (incompatibility of the two roles) (Galinsky and Swanberg, 2000).

Research by Mason and Goulden (2002) also examined family formation and its effects on the careers of both women and men. Results of this study revealed a consistent gap between women and men who have children and the effects on tenure track positions in education. More specifically, a 24% gap was found between men and women's rates of having achieved tenure 12 to 14 years after receiving a PhD. Also worth noting, is the finding that men across all fields of education that had babies achieve tenure at a slightly higher rate than men and women who do not have children. Lastly, when comparing women with children and women without children, those without children demonstrated a higher rate of promotion. Rather than focusing on the two polar ends of the spectrum when referring to women that opt-out and those that opt-in, Grant-Vallone and Ensher (2011) include the perspectives of women who opt in between.

Research by Grant-Vallone and Ensher (2011) reveals that the decision to opt in or out of the workforce was not clear-cut. Women in this study made shifts in their careers becoming part-time employees, entrepreneurs, or changed organizations that offered a more flexible work schedule. The women that decided to remain employed on a full time basis all had flexible work schedules, were entrepreneurs, or worked from home. Participants in this study also adapted their careers at various points in time. For example, the decision to either remain full time, begin part time, work from home, or change their career path occurred while in the process of still receiving their education, before having a family, or after having their first child. Although the

women in this study placed a high value on their careers, results indicate that they also placed a high value on family and children (Grant-Vallone & Ensher, 2011). This particular study also reveals highly useful strategies that these professional women have adopted in order to maintain a successful work and family balance while opting in between.

Strategies utilized by women in this study in order to make their professional lives work include: finding the right organizational fit (i.e., organizations that offer formal and informal policies intended to help manage work and family); "getting over" the guilt of not spending enough time with their children and family; shifting one's paradigm by acknowledging the enrichment that various roles can provide; establishing professional contacts; seeking personal support; finding satisfactory child care (Grant-Vallone & Ensher, 2011). Results of this study conclude that organizations would greatly benefit by offering guidelines, assistance, and providing mentoring opportunities to their employees, who have families, to connect them with the appropriate resources required to achieve balance in their work and family roles (Grant-Vallone & Ensher, 2011). While this study focuses the strategies used to maintain balance between work and family roles for women who opt in between, Statistics Canada's (2006) report, Women in Canada: A Gender-Based Statistical *Report* reflects the difficulties and struggles many women in Canada face while simultaneously attempting to maintain their careers and family.

Findings from this report indicated that compared to their male counterparts, women were far more likely to lose time at work because of personal or family responsibilities, work part time, and earn less (Statistics Canada, 2006). Moreover,

38% of families headed by lone-parent mothers lived below the poverty line, compared to 13% of male lone-parent families, and 7% of two-parent families (Statistics Canada, 2006). These findings demonstrate the double standard women in leadership roles face as well as the double standard women face in society in regard to children and family. This double standard is also reflected in the treatment of women with children by superiors, as well as their access to resources and mentoring by superiors once in leadership positions. This next barrier (i.e., access to resources) focuses on the treatment of women who have attained such leadership positions, but do not receive the same type of informal instruction as men, which ultimately affects their success as leaders.

Access to Resources. Women's access to resources, or lack thereof in some cases, focuses primarily on the deficiency of career advice, resources, mentoring, and socialization of women in academic leadership positions (Paludi, 2008). Access to these resources available within the workplace is also characteristic of one's social capital. An individual's social capital (Coleman, 1988) refers to one's level of networking connections within a community and the set of collective expectations within a community, that influences the goal seeking behavior of its members (Davies, 2004). A review of the literature commonly cites that the formation, utilization, and access to these stores of social capital differ among minority groups, namely women (Brown, 2005; Timberlake, 2005; Pichler et al., 2008; Searby & Tripses; Hoyt, 2005). Further, much of the literature suggests that women are excluded from social networks, which is one of the most significant aspects of organizational power (Timberlake, 2005). Women's lack of access to workplace

social capital, as well as its associated benefits, can have detrimental effects on career advancement, such as: a lack of knowledge sharing, higher turnover rates, fewer resources, fewer contacts that lead to power and advancement, and lower levels of trust and cooperative spirit amongst coworkers (Timberlake, 2005). The importance of access to resources has also been supported by other researchers (Brown, 2005; Searby & Tripses, 2006).

Supporting the notion that mentorship is an invaluable resource for the recruitment and preparation of women, Brown (2005) examined mentoring relationships among female college presidents. Samples of 91 female presidents at selected independent colleges were surveyed about mentor and protégé relationships. Findings from this study revealed that a majority of college presidents did in fact receive mentoring. This finding suggests that mentorship plays a significant role in the advancement of female college presidents. Further, approximately 72% of presidents were involved in a mentoring program. This finding proposes that aspiring female college presidents appreciate the value of mentorship in administrative advancement (Brown, 2005). Both of these findings indicate that mentorship is a crucial element in the advancement of females into top tier positions.

The disadvantage faced by women as a result of not being part of the "old boys' club" has also been cited by Searby and Tripses (2006). Based on the assumption that women and minorities experience a disadvantage in their workplace social capital, their study sought to understand how women develop the capacity and confidence to enter into mentoring relationships. More specifically, this study investigated how women engage in mentoring relationships, what barriers they might

perceive, and differences between their stated intentions. Results of this study revealed an array of thoughts concerning the entry of a mentoring relationship (Searby & Tripses, 2006).

According to Searby and Tripses (2006), the main themes present in the responses included a general resistance to the mentoring process due to its formal structure. However, many of the respondents acknowledged the potential for mentoring to gratify their personal and professional needs. An analysis of the participants' journal entries on the topic of mentorship demonstrated a yearning for a mentoring relationship as well as the need for support and encouragement from a mentor. On a personal level, participants expressed the desire to receive job-related advice from a mentor as well as a reduction of professional isolation. These findings highlight the fact that women in leadership benefit from support and nurturance of their careers. While the careers of most educational administrators are lonely, female administrators experience loneliness on a higher level, as they are required to work in a typically and rocentric culture (Searby & Tripses, 2006). As demonstrated by the multitude of findings on the topic of mentoring and female leadership, access to a mentor can be a catalyst for promotion of more females in higher-level positions and may lead to greater success when in these positions. However, in order for women to benefit entirely from their access to mentoring, other barriers such as gender stereotypes, must also be confronted and challenged.

More recently, an article in the *Toronto Star* discusses a claim made by a female vice-principal of systemic discrimination and a lack of sufficient mentoring. Ranjit Khatkur claims that after serving as a vice-principal for ten years, subjective

promotional policies and lack of mentoring prevented her from becoming a principal. Perhaps demonstrating how race intersects with gender in a way that disadvantages non-white, racialized women, Khatkur stated that numerous principals and superintendents refused to provide her with the required mentoring necessary for promotion. From a social justice perspective, it is also rather disappointing that the school board's lawyer dismissed Khatkur's claims by stating they are "subjective views". Though the article does not specify whether male colleagues made the refusals, this scenario is shockingly similar to the testimonials made by female administrators in the preceding literature (see, for example, Grewal, 2011). It is important to note however, that although this section focuses primarily on the comparison of mentoring experiences of women and men, the struggle to reach parity amongst and between women has also been cited as a contributing struggle for current and aspiring female leaders (Jones & Palmer, 2011).

The relationship dynamics between women in the workplace has been portrayed as having both positive elements and negative impacts by media reports (e.g., Meece, 2009; Tahmincioglu, 2010) and research findings. According to Litwin (2006), the first portrayal of women's work relationships is grounded in oppressive systems, focuses on the positive contributions that women provide the workplace and the encouragement women provide to one another. In the same vein, women's work relationships have been cited as an additional barrier placed on their gender by plaguing the workplace with bouts of relational aggression, competition and sabotaging behaviours between women. The clash between women in the workplace, especially when competing for a limited position (e.g., superintendent or director of a

school board), has been attributed to the powerlessness and self-hatred that people in subordinated groups can experience when they internalize the negative stereotypes of the dominant culture (Kanter, 1977; as cited in Litwin, 2006).

This phenomenon is also highlighted in Freire's (2000) *Pedagogy of the Oppressed*, where he utilizes the term 'horizontal violence' to describe the lashing out at one's own oppressed group member(s). Freire (2000) describes the term 'horizontal violence' as a way of acting out the internalization of negative stereotypes placed upon the oppressed individual by the dominant societal group, in an attempt to regain a sense of power. Horizontal violence can occur as indirect aggression or as intentional and harmful behaviour. For example, female participants in a study conducted by Jones and Palmer (2011) reference this horizontal violence as they discuss their experiences with the follow behaviours: competition between female coworkers, an inability of to view one another as team members, suspicions as to how fellow female colleagues earned positions of power (insinuating inappropriate relationships with supervisors), reluctance to speak out about discriminatory practices, and generational conflicts with younger female leaders (Jones & Palmer, 2011).

Litwin (2006) also cites other negative patterns of female behaviour in her study, which include: unclear and unspoken friendship expectations between women, taboos against discussing the boundary confusion of women's friendship in the workplace, the double bind when utilizing both feminine and masculine work styles in the gendered workplace and the labels that occur as a result of implementing a masculine style, and the illusion of powerlessness women experience as a result of

internalizing negative gender stereotypes (Litwin, 2006). Findings from Litwin's (2006) study indicate that women often experience a clash between friendship expectations that are carried into the workplace, and the masculine norms that dominate the workplace. These expectations (often unspoken and unconscious) serve as a filter for interpreting the behaviours of other women in the workplace. This is often manifested in the different expectations women have regarding the behaviour of their male and female bosses. The expectation for positive relationships and friendship occurs more between female bosses and co-workers than it does for male bosses and female co-workers. The impact of these expectations is increased for female leaders that do not adopt a 'feminine' leadership style and are then seen as "bitches" or "difficult to work with" (Litman, 2006, p. 3). Litwin (2006) also discusses the double bind her participants experienced when utilizing a masculine leadership style. Within this discussion, women explained that they were discouraged from supporting other women because they were competing for a limited position. Becoming friends with a fellow female co-worker was seen as something that may interfere with obtaining a top-tier leadership position.

Perhaps the most detrimental and compelling finding from Litwin's (2006) study is the fact that women may internalize negative gender stereotypes, which become manifested in their own beliefs and behaviours towards their gender and fellow group members. Illusions of powerlessness become evident when women justify the negative behaviours that occur between females in the workplace as, "it's just the way things are"; "it's just the way women are-catty"; "we can't talk about it [friendship expectations]" (Litwin, 2006, p.7). These statements hold other women

responsible for the negative patterns of behaviour and reflect an acceptance of them. Women in this study (i.e., Litwin, 2006) are described as being unaware of the stereotypes and demonstrate a generalization of behaviours that are attributed to "all" women (Litwin, 2006, p.7). Gender stereotypes are perhaps one of the most difficult challenges women can experience in the workplace, due to their persistence in society and their resistance to change.

Male Dominated Power Structure. Another way feminist research (Oplatka & Hertz-Lararowitz, 2006; Shakeshaft, 1989) has helped explain the underrepresentation of women in senior leadership positions is through an analysis of the male dominated power structure. For example, Oplatka & Hertz-Lararowitz, (2006) highlight how male dominated key leadership positions will likely recruit new principals "who resemble their sponsors in philosophy, deeds, appearances, and hobbies" (p. 19). In other words, men in senior positions will hire those candidates who most resemble themselves, thereby reproducing male dominance within educational administration (Oplatka & Hertz-Lararowitz, 2006, p. 19). Writing in the American context, Shakeshaft (1989), for example, has documented the ways in which male superintendents did not want to work with females as they saw them as a threat (see, Oplatka & Hertz-Lararowitz, 2006). Additionally, when power structures are dominated by white heterosexual men, women, in particular non-heterosexual, non-white women, may be less well connected to systems that lead to career advancement and promotion.

Gender Stereotypes. Gender stereotypes are persistent cognitive structures that influence the way individuals process information regarding men and women.

For example, although attitudes toward women's rights and professional ambitions have undergone a revolution since the 1960s, gender stereotypes attributed to men and women remain and are consistent across may cultures (Rudman & Phelan, 2010). The impact of gender stereotypes becomes highly increased when they become internalized by the oppressed group and facilitate or perpetuate horizontal violence (Freire, 2000). These cognitive structures are highly resistant to change and contain both prescriptive and descriptive elements about how men and women should behave (Hoyt, 2005). Gender stereotypes are present in many of the aforementioned barriers and demand a great amount of focus in the discussion of women and leadership.

Gender stereotypes can be very powerful obstructions to female leaders as well as their organizations. Awareness and activation of gender stereotypes begins as early as childhood and are well developed for most children by the first grade (Paludi, 2008). Stereotypes learned early in life form the basis for implicit gender stereotypes (Rudman & Phelan, 2010). Implicit gender stereotypes automatically associate men and women with various traits (e.g., men as agentic and women as nurturing) and can become internalized by the individual leading to implicit self-concepts (Rudman & Phelan, 2010). Implicit self-concepts become exacerbated when women are exposed to stereotypic ads and ideologies. This effect was demonstrated by Davies, Spencer, and Steele (2005), after priming women with stereotypic television ads focusing on female stereotypes (e.g., irrational, emotional, weak, indecisive). Priming women with these stereotypes caused a decreased desire to pursue a leadership role and influenced their ability to imagine themselves as successful in traditional male roles (Davies et al., 2005; Rudman & Phelan, 2010). Similar effects of implicit gender

stereotypes and the influence of priming gender stereotypes have also influenced children's career aspirations and beliefs (Burger, Abbott, Tobias, Koch, Vogt & Sosa, 2007).

Children's activation of their gender stereotypes are commonly manifested in the types of occupations they consider for themselves. Girls typically tend to choose occupations such as nurse, teacher, or flight attendant. In contrast, boys tend to consider occupations such as police officer, truck driver, architect, or pilot. A restriction of occupational aspirations is also evident in girls, specifically in the domains of math and science (Burger et al., 2007). Ilene Lang, president of Catalyst, also addressed the dangers of gender stereotypes in organizations as she states:

When companies fail to acknowledge and address the impact of gender stereotypic bias, they lose out on top female talent...Ultimately, it's not women's leadership styles that need to change. Only when organizations take action to address the impact of gender stereotyping will they be able to capitalize on the "full deck" of talent (Catalyst, 2007, p. 24).

The effects of gender stereotyping also manifests itself in the perceptions individuals maintain regarding female leadership effectiveness.

Perceptions of Female Leadership Effectiveness. The effect of gender stereotyping on women's leadership effectiveness is often cited in the literature as the "double bind" dilemma and as the "think-leader-think-male" stereotype activation (Hoyt, 2005). The "double bind dilemma" represents the idea that women are doomed if they are able to advance into senior leadership positions, yet are also doomed if they do not, when they are confronted with gender stereotypes. The think-male-thinkleader stereotype activation is the notion that qualities that are commonly associated with successful leaders are often described as male attributes (i.e., taking charge, confident, assertive) (Oplatka & Hertz-Lararowitz, 2006; Sczesny, 2003; Hoyt, 2005). If men are the "natural" leader, then women become by default "unnatural." To put differently, when women leaders act in ways that are not consistent with the feminine stereotype, they are perceived as too aggressive, rigid, uncaring, and self-promoting – decidedly "unfeminine." This ultimately leads to the perception that women leaders will always be seen as less effective than men as leaders.

The "masculine nature" of educational leadership puts women who aspire to leadership at a disadvantage. Women's "tendency to caring, subjective relational values could be perceived as at odds with the 'masculine values' such as 'rationality' and 'objectivity' of senior leadership" (Oplatka & Hertz-Lararowitz, 2006, p. 20). Underlying this perception is the assumption that, when it comes to leadership style, men's behaviours are seen as essential to effective leadership (Shakeshaft, 1989; Oplatka & Hertz-Lararowitz, 2006). When an "environment assumes men's values and practices as the norm for leadership," it is hardly surprising that many women are excluded from senior leadership positions in schools.

Other areas of research outside of education have also demonstrated the way in which leadership is gendered 'masculine.' In the 2005 Catalyst report entitled, "Women 'Take Care', Men 'Take Charge" researchers investigated whether opinions about leaders arise from gender stereotypes. Catalyst surveyed top corporate leaders to judge how effective both male and female leaders performed behaviours commonly

associated to effective leadership (i.e., supporting, rewarding, mentoring, networking, consulting, team-building, inspiring, problem-solving, influencing upward, and delegating). The respondents' perceptions were then matched with gender stereotypes. Results of this survey indicate that male respondents considered male leaders to be more effective than women on all of the masculine leader behaviours (i.e., delegating, problem-solving, and influencing upward). Female respondents had similar results, with the exception of problem solving. Surprisingly, female respondents believed that males had greater competency at networking- a stereotypic female behaviour. With the exception of networking and inspiring behaviours, this study demonstrates that both male and female managers judged male leaders as more competent and superior than female leaders on masculine behaviours (Catalyst, 2005). Results of this study are also similar to those of the 2006 Catalyst report titled, "*Different Cultures, Similar Perceptions: Stereotyping of Western European Business Leaders*" (Catalyst, 2006).

Cross-Cultural Comparisons of Women and Leadership. In their 2006 report, Catalyst investigates the presence of gender stereotypes and perceptions of leadership in the top 50 public companies across Europe. Additionally, this study identifies similarities and differences in the ways women and men leaders are perceived across European cultures and questions whether the consequences of stereotyping vary for women leaders in different European cultures. Given that women lead only 3% of these top 50 companies in Europe, results of this report were not unforeseen. When asked to identify the barriers that keep them out of the top-tier

positions, female leaders across Europe frequently cited gender stereotypes (Catalyst, 2006).

Participants in this study (both male and female) were asked to estimate from their experiences the percentage of female leaders who were effective at various leader behaviours (i.e., supporting, rewarding, mentoring, networking, consulting, team-building, inspiring, problem-solving, influencing upward, delegating, role modeling, and monitoring). The same question was asked concerning male leaders. A comparison of the estimates for male and female leadership effectiveness was made to determine if there were any statistically meaningful differences in their perceptions. Results of this comparison revealed that individuals from every cultural group perceived differences between male and female leaders. There was also a high level of agreement among participants in every cultural group regarding the specific differences between male and female leaders. For example, in almost every cultural cluster, male respondents perceived that male leaders' higher effectiveness at "problem solving" was their greatest performance advantage over female leaders. Similarly, men perceived that "supporting" is the behaviour that female leaders most commonly outperformed men (Catalyst, 2006).

Results of this study also revealed that male respondents believed that male leaders performed better than female leaders in a larger number of behaviours. The largest degree of similarity in judgments made regarding male and female leadership was among the Nordic and Germanic cultures. Interestingly, Anglo and Latin males selected only two leader behaviours they believed male leaders outperformed women on (i.e., inspiring and role modeling). Further research concludes that in comparison

to other European countries, women in Nordic cultures have more economic and political power and have similar status to males in the workplace (Catalyst, 2005). In addition to the research citing differences in attitudes regarding female leaders, Cheung & Halpern (2010) explored the difference between women's progression to top-tier leadership positions in Western cultures in comparison to Asian countries.

On an international level, countries that are closest to the equality mark of 50% for global board seats held by women include: Norway (40.1%), Sweden (27.3%), Finland (24.5%), United States (16.1%), and South Africa (15.8). A fair distance below these countries, Canada comprises (10.3%) of the global board seats held by women, and is surpassed by countries including: Turkey (10.8%), Poland (10.8%), Germany (11.2%), United Kingdom (12.5%), France (12.7%), Denmark (13.9%), Netherlands (14.0%), and Israel (15.0%). The bottom three countries on this list include: United Arab Emirates (0.8%), Qatar (0.3%), and Saudi Arabia (0.1%) (Catalyst, 2011, 2012). These statistics demonstrate that, a half century later, there is still a global struggle for women to ascend to highly regarded elite leadership positions.

Race and Leadership. When addressing the experiences of women in educational leadership, it is important to include a discussion of the experiences nonwhite, minority women encounter. Failing to include a discussion of race is also a failure to recognize that 'whiteness' is a privileging construct (MacIntosh, 1989; 2006) that perpetuates power and authority, thereby preventing access and opportunity for non-white women (MacIntosh, 1989; 1992; Fitzgerald, 2006). Further, narratives that fail to discuss issues of race risk producing research that

suggests women leaders share a monolithic collective identity based on their gender, which is predicated on western traditions of leadership, power and privilege (Fitzgerald, 2006). Until recently, efforts to engage with issues of race within the broader context of gender equity remained limited. For example, research studies and even provincial federation reports (i.e., Ontario Ministry of Education, 2010; Ontario College of Teachers, 2008; Adams & Hambright, 2004; Lu & Morissette, 2010) that addressed the unique needs of females in leadership and the labour market, failed to include the experiences of visible minorities.

This limited discussion of female visible minorities in discussions of educational leadership of was noted by Mogadime (2008) as she critiques the absence of a discussion about race in the Federation of Women Teachers' Associations of Ontario's report, Go For It! Barriers to Women's Promotion in Education (1991) report. Although this text advocates for the implementation of affirmative action, nowhere does it state or acknowledge the issue of race, as it advocates the rights for all women in society. Further, provisions in the Education Act did not include racial minorities until 1992, even though the Ontario Ministry of Education program on employment equity began in the mid 1970s (Ontario Ministry of Education, 1993; Mogadime, 2008). Yet, minority women's struggles can hardly be contained to these time frames, as they are historically situated within systems of racism and sexism that began during colonial periods (Mogadime, 2008). Further, while accumulating information on the experiences of minority women, it was difficult to obtain data on their representation in educational leadership positions (i.e., within a national or provincial context) as the numbers are categorized by gender and not race. What can

be stated is that minority women face experiences that are compounded by additional systems of oppression. In addition to race and gender, Fitzgerald (2006) contributes to the existing literature by adding a third component of oppression.

Fitzgerald (2006) addresses the 'triple bind' Indigenous women face due to exigencies of race, gender, and their identity as Indigenous women. Results of this study indicate that Indigenous women 'walk' and work 'within two systems' (Indigenous and non-Indigenous) and are 'judged as a woman' in a 'white man's world' (Fitzgerald, 2006, p. 207). This finding indicates a triple bind that places Indigenous women in a poorer position than women of colour. First, they are Indigenous women in a predominantly white world. Second, they are women in systems that value patriarchal leadership. Third, Indigenous women must also overcome judgment of 'others'; all males, white males, and women (Fitzgerald, 2006, p.207). Further complicating this triple bind are the barriers and the Indigenous women face in their leadership positions. These barriers include: the predominantly white organizational structure of the school, placing these women on the margins of organization; community expectations; and responsibilities and accountability placing considerable demands on them. Community expectations were seen as barrier, since none of the women in the study felt as though they could 'leave being Aboriginal' (Fitzgerald, 2006, p.209). Each of the women in this study expressed feeling as though their work belonged to more people than themselves, since they all represented a specific community that required a high degree of reciprocity. Thus, both gender and culture can affect a leader's style, behaviour, emergence, and effectiveness in many multifaceted.

One of the methods cited to cope with the challenges faced by 'walking between two worlds' involved interpreting the 'games' that operated in a 'white man's world' and 'very white organizations' in order to fulfill their duties as Indigenous educational leaders (Fitzgerald, 2006, p.210). For each of the barriers cited below, it is imperative to remember the double and triple-bind racial and ethnic minority women face. While white women indeed face systems of oppression in leadership positions, including educational leadership, these systems of oppression become much stronger for minority women.

Conclusion

Despite women's increased representation of those who hold principal's qualification and supervisory officer's qualifications, women are still underrepresented in top-tier educational leadership roles, such as superintendents and directors. According to the Ontario College of Teachers 2008 Annual Report, women have been surpassing men in principal qualifications since 2001 and also in supervisory officer certifications since 2004 (OCT, 2008). Knowing this trend, one would assume that the number of females employed in an educational leadership position would be reflective of the number of women qualified. However according to the Survey of Principals (SOP) approximately 8,000 men and 7,000 women were principals at elementary and secondary schools during 2004-2005 (Statistics Canada, 2008).

A review of the literature indicates many factors that contribute to this unbalanced representation. The contributing factors cited within this thesis include: the glass ceiling, work and family conflict, limited access to resources and mentoring,

male-dominated power structures, gender stereotyping, and perceptions of female leadership effectiveness. Utilizing a mixed methods approach, with a concentration on phenomenological tradition, this study furthers explores these experiences. By administering a descriptive survey and performing semi-structured interviews with current and aspiring female educational leaders, women's voices are illuminated and heard to provide a deeper understanding of this disparity in leadership representation.

CHAPTER III METHODOLOGY AND PROCEDURES

Description of the Study

This study utilized a mixed methods approach, while maintaining its qualitative paradigm and focus. This study may be classified as mixed methods research due to the use of a supplemental descriptive and Likert-scale survey in addition to semi-structured interviews. The primary focus of this study's methodology however, remains within a qualitative paradigm.

Mixed-Methods Research

According to Spratt, Walker and Robinson (2004), mixed-methods research attempts to bring together methods from different perspectives (i.e., qualitative and quantitative methods). Mixed-methods studies provide a basis for triangulation, attempt to view the research questions from different points of view, and facilitate deeper exploration on the research topic (Spratt et al., 2004). This research study combines the use of a descriptive and Likert-scale survey as well as a semi-structured interview. However, due to the fact that the survey is supplemental to the semistructured interview, this study's primary focus remains within a qualitative paradigm. In sum, mixed-methods research and triangulation of data, allows interpretations about complex human experiences, beliefs and behaviours. Utilizing both qualitative and quantitative methods was also seen as advantageous due to the sensitivity of the information gathered and the hesitation the participants may experience when asked to verbalize these experiences. Rather than determining broad generalizations about a population, the primary purpose of this study is to represent a particular group of people and at a specific point in time (i.e., aspiring to be an

educational administrator and while currently employed in an educational leadership position). Both qualitative and quantitative methods can support feminist values and beliefs while embracing social change in the process.

Incorporating Quantitative Methods in Feminist Research

Although this study relied on a descriptive survey and Likert-scale survey to supplement the semi-structured interviews, it is acknowledged that some feminists may be critical of the incorporation of this quantitative method. However, although the survey that was administered in this study is a quantitative method, it still retains the potential for social change and allows women to explore their personal experiences, while also facilitating a better understanding of these experiences. This view is also supported by and consistent with Miner-Rubino, Epstein-Jayaratne and Konik (2010). Miner-Rubino et al. (2010), state that survey methods have "the potential for concrete social change in alignment with feminist values" (p. 199). Furthermore, although quantitative methods have been traditionally non-existent to feminist research, Miner-Rubino et al. (2010) cite many advantages these methods bring to feminist research.

According to Miner-Rubino et al. (2010), incorporating quantitative research methods can be seen as a catalyst for a way to introduce complex issues of sexism, racism, classism, gender equality, and other social justice concerns. Second, the incorporation of statistics may produce results that provide highly useful findings to readers, policy makers, and the public. Supporting this view, feminist researchers (e.g, Harding, 1987; O'Neil, 1995; Miner-Rubino et al., 2007) also support the benefits of using quantitative research methods to achieve feminist goals, as they

recognize that methods per se, are not strictly "feminist." For Harding (1987) methods are simply tools for gathering data that make the research feminist or not. It is also how one utilizes the tool, for what purpose they are using the tool, and how the researcher uses that data that makes the research feminist or not. Lastly, quantitative research methods can be helpful in understanding how attitudes, beliefs and experiences differ, or are similar within a given population.

According to Lichtman (2006), qualitative research is an umbrella term that describes the process of gathering, organizing, and interpreting information in natural or social settings. The main purpose of qualitative research is to provide an in-depth description and understanding of human phenomena and human interaction. Understanding and describing human phenomena focuses on the individual(s) lived experiences. Understanding and describing human interactions situates itself within the subjects' culture and context. With its emphasis on the written word and inductive analysis process, Litchman (2006), as well as Hittleman and Simon (2006) identify several key features of qualitative research that delineate this method from other approaches to research.

Qualitative research is comprised of several distinctive features that strengthen its utilization in research studies. According to Hittleman and Simon (2006), qualitative researchers: (1) are concerned with the process of an interaction, rather than its outcomes; (2) study the actions and interactions of individuals that occur within their natural setting, through interviews or observation; (3) collect data verbally from participants; (4) analyze the data rationally rather than statistically, for the purposes of generating further research questions and conjectures; (5) view

subjectivity as a strength of their research. Lichtman (2006) adds to these characteristics by stating that qualitative research is also: (6) holistic in its approach to focusing on the study of a situation in its entirety; (7) fluid and ever-changing since there are many traditions that inform qualitative research; (8) interactive, as the researcher plays a pivotal role in the data collection, analysis and iterative processes; and (9) in-depth, as the researcher looks deeply into a few elements, rather than looking at the surface of many. These characteristics combined form the basis of a proper qualitative study.

This study's methodology is consistent with the previously stated characteristics during all stages of the research process. By focusing on the interaction between both current and aspiring female educational administrators and their coworkers, this study strives to explore, describe and understand the experiences and interactions they encounter. All interviews with current and aspiring female educational administrators were conducted in either their school office or classroom (i.e., after student dismissal) or within a location in their own community. This reinforces the importance of conducting interviews within a natural setting. Following the semi-structured interviews, all data was transcribed for accuracy and analyzed inductively. The data was also analyzed holistically and examined in its entirety utilizing the tradition of phenomenology and feminist research methods. These traditions and strategies will be explored further to provide a more in-depth account of this study's methodology, data collection and data analysis.

Phenomenology

Although relatively new to the field of education, the use of a phenomenological approach in research has become more common since the early 1980s (Åkerlind, 2005 & Lichtman, 2006). Frequently used in the field of education, phenomenology as a method explores the lived experiences of those who have experienced a certain phenomenon and attempts to capture the essence of that phenomenon. The lived experience is a term that describes the particular experience or event that the researcher will focus on. The participants in the study are those who have been directly involved in the experience (Litchman, 2006). For the purposes of this research, the lived experience (i.e., application process and successful acquisition of a leadership position) is explored. The participants in this study that are directly involved in this experience are current and aspiring female educational administrators. These experiences are then deeply explored to extract the essence of the lived experience.

In phenomenological research, extracting the essence of the lived experience involves moving towards a deeper level of understanding (Litchman, 2006). During this stage of phenomenological research, the researcher describes and identifies variations in human meaning, understanding, and conceptions (Åkerlind, 2005). According to Åkerlind (2005), the notion that the essence of the lived experience represents a relationship between the experiencer and the phenomenon being experienced, leads to the conclusion that each participant's experience will be related to the phenomenon they have experienced. Exploring the lived experience provides a way of looking at the collective lived experience of phenomena holistically, despite the fact that the same phenomena may be experienced differently by each participant

(Åkerlind, 2005). Max van Manen (2007) also refers to this strategy of exploring different meanings, as reflective inquiry. According to van Manen (2007), reflective inquiry activities aim to interpret the aspects of meaning that are associated with the phenomenon. The lived experience of each participant is explored using what is referred to as a reductionist process.

Phenomenological reduction is the process that facilitates and extracts the essence of the participant's experience. During this stage, the researcher uses strategies such as bracketing and epoche to suspend one's own thoughts about the topic being explored, while also removing their judgment. This is typically done by the researcher prior to engaging with the literature and can be accomplished by writing about one's own ideas on the topic (Lichtman, 2006). Recognizing that participants are the experts and authorities of their own experiences is also one of the fundamental elements of feminist research (Brayton, 2011). Utilizing phenomenology as a method also involves close attention by the researcher, to interview techniques, transcribing, and data analysis stages of the research process. Each of these stages will be subsequently explored in greater detail.

Feminist Research

Conducting research within a feminist perspective involves exploring issues of feminist relevance, with a focus on difference, social power, and scientific oppression, while simultaneously promoting social activism (Hesse-Biber, et al., 2004). In simpler terms, feminist research is based on doing research 'for women' rather than 'on women' with a strong emphasis on social change (Miner-Rubino, Jayaratne, & Konik, 2006). Feminist research differs from other traditions due to the

feminist beliefs and concerns that continually affect the guiding framework to the research process (Brayton, 2011). Although feminist theory has been discussed in the theoretical framework section of this thesis, a brief description of the defining features of feminist research methodology will be revisited.

According to Brayton (2011) feminist research differs from traditional research methodologies in three distinct ways. The differences between feminist research and other methodologies include: an active pursuit to eliminate power imbalances between the research and subject; it is politically motived and in turn intends to change social inequality; and is constantly revolving around the experiences of women (Brayton, 2011). Feminist research has traditionally relied on qualitative methods to reach feminist goals. However, as previously discussed, the incorporation of quantitative methods can offer many benefits and reach similar goals as qualitative research.

Participant Selection

Participants in this study were from a school board within the Southwestern Ontario area. There were two separate groups of participants, which included: (1) female educators who have an interest in pursuing an educational leadership position; and (2) female administrators that have successfully obtained an educational leadership position.

The selection of these participants included criteria of eligibility to participate. For example "interest in pursuing an educational leadership position" was determined by the participants' educational and professional development. More specifically, participants who demonstrated a desire to pursue an educational leadership position

must have obtained, or be in the process of obtaining, either two additional qualification specialists or a Master's degree (not limited to Education), and be employed as a teacher for a minimum of five years. These requirements were chosen based on the application standards for an educational leadership position. Female participants who have applied for an educational leadership position must have either been placed within a pool of eligible administrators or been informed that they were not successful in obtaining the position. Lastly, female administrators that have successfully obtained an educational leadership position were active in their current position of either vice-principal, principal, departmental superintendent, or director of education.

For the recruitment, this study employed both purposive sampling and criterion sampling methods. Purposive sampling involves using a series of strategic choices about whom, where and how to conduct the research (Palys, 2008). Purposive sampling was selected for this study due to the specific type of participants required (i.e., current and aspiring female educational administrators). Criterion sampling involves recruiting participants who meet certain criteria or a criterion that is essential to the purpose of the study (Palys, 2008). Criterion sampling was used in conjunction with the purposive sampling, in the subsequent stages of participant recruitment, as the participants were required to meet the previously discussed criteria in order to be interviewed. Upon confirmation of the participants' eligibility to participate in the study, the letter of information and consent were provided prior to commencing the interviews.

The Participants

A total of 10 participants were included in this study. Although this study set out to recruit 3 separate groups of female educators and administrators (i.e., current female educational administrators, female educators that have applied for an educational administration position but did not receive it, and aspiring female educational administrators), this study includes 2 groups of women, due to a lack of response from female educators that have applied for an educational leadership position, but did not receive it. Therefore, the two groups in this study are: current female educational administrators (n=4) and aspiring female educational administrators (n=6).

Table 5.

Summary of Demographic Information from Aspiring Female Educational

Name*	Tracey	Anne	Sarah	Jennifer	Patricia	Rachel
Age	44	40	49	42	41	37
Highest	Bachelor of	Bachelor	Bachelor	Bachelor	Bachelor	Bachelor of
Degree	Education	of	of	of	of	Education
Earned		Education	Education, LLB	Education	Education	
Additional	Special	Other	Special	Special	Special	Special
Qualification	Education,		Education,	Education,	Education,	Education,
(\$)	Other		Other	Other	Other	Other
Age at First	24	31	40	26	27	30
Teaching Position						
Leadership	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
Program						
Training						

Administrators

*All names have been changed

The average age of the aspiring educational administrators was 42 years and the average age of obtaining their first teaching position was 29 years. The highest level of education for aspiring educational administrators was a Bachelor of Education degree, with the exception of Sarah who also has a degree in Law. All aspiring educators were also taking part in their respective school board's Leadership program, geared towards those who are interested in pursuing an educational leadership position in the future. Table 5 contains the summative information on the aspiring educational administrators.

The average age of the current educational administrators was 48 years. The number of years of classroom experience prior to pursuing an educational leadership position ranged from 8 years to over 30 years. In terms of education, two participants in this group had obtained their Master of Education degrees (i.e., Andrea and Tiffany). One participant (i.e., Diane) was currently in the process of obtaining her Master of Education degree. All current administrators in this study were successful at obtaining an educational leadership position during their first attempt. Although this study aimed to acquire a combination of educational leadership positions (i.e., vice-principal, principal, superintendent, director) no superintendents or directors volunteered to participate in this study. Therefore, current educational administrators in this study consistent of one secondary school principal, one elementary school principal, and two elementary school vice-principals. Table 6 contains the summative information on the current educational administrators including: age, years, of experience, educational background, current positions, and number of attempts to successfully obtaining their first educational leadership position.

Table 6.

Summary of Demographic Information from Current Female Educational

Name *	Andrea	Lucy	Tiffany	Diane
Age	58	56	39	40
Years of Teaching Experience	30+	17	9	9
Highest Degree Earned	Master of Education	Bachelor of Education	Master of Education	Bachelor of Education
Age at Obtaining First Educational Leadership Position	57	46	32	31
Attempts Made to Obtain first Educational Leadership Position	1	1	1	1
Current Position	Elementary School Vice- Principal	Elementary School Principal	Elementary School Vice- Principal	Secondary School Principal

Administrators

*All names have been changed

Data Collection

Data included in this study was collected using demographic surveys and semi-structured interviews. These methods were deemed most suitable due to their consistency with qualitative research methods and this study's theoretical framework. Following is a detailed description of these data collection procedures and the purpose of their selection. **Descriptive Survey Research.** In order to collect additional information about participants' attitudes and beliefs regarding educational leadership, a descriptive Likert-scale survey was administered prior to conducting the semistructured interview. According to Lodico, Spaulding and Voegtle (2010), surveys and Likert-scales are utilized to target participant's opinions, beliefs, or perceptions about a current issue. Likert-scales are given scores or assigned a weight (typically 1 through 5). The purpose of a Likert-scale is to sum the scores for each participant to acquire a response rate. The intent is that the statement will represent different aspects of the participants' general attitude or beliefs towards their own experiences (Brace, 2004). For this study, a Likert-scale was utilized to assess participants' attitudes and feelings regarding their experiences with their current or prospective educational leadership position.

All surveys within this study (see Appendix F, G) contained a combination of demographic questions as well as a number of response items in the form of Likert-type questions. The Likert-type questions targeted the participants' experiences with gender equality, mentorship, work and family, and recruitment and hiring practices. For each survey, the participants were invited to select a number from 1 through 5 indicating their level of agreement for each statement. Each survey also consisted of numerical questions for demographics and an open-ended question.

Demographic questions were used in collaboration with Likert-type questions in order to obtain background information on each participant. This information was also obtained in order to be able to report the findings in a context that allows results to be better interpreted (Lodico et al., 2010). To conclude the survey, an open-ended question was posed to allow participants an opportunity to express any concerns or experiences that were not targeted in the closed-ended survey questions.

Semi-Structured Interviews. In addition to administering a survey, semistructured interviews were conducted with each participant. In simplest terms, interview research is conducted by talking with participants, gathering their stories and learning about their experiences and perspectives (DeVault & Gross, 2010). Semi-structured interviews are also less structured and rigorous form of interviewing that allows empathetic and interpersonal dialogue, which are key components of feminist research (Hesse-Biber & Piatelli, 2010).

Feminist research interviewing adds a deeper insight by acknowledging the complexity of human talk, the flexibility of and productive power of language, politics of interpretation and representation, and the hierarchical relations between researcher and informants. Feminist interviewing is also used to bring attention to these experiences and has been linked to social justice concerns. In fact, much of the knowledge gained on women's insights in the 1960s and 1970s was facilitated through women's collective talk However, in order to achieve such results, the broader politics of the personal and society which shapes these experiences must not be overlooked (DeVault & Gross, 2010). Keeping these points in mind, a semi-structured interview technique was chosen to allow female participants an opportunity to express their experiences within a set of guiding questions. By using questions that are relevant to social change, this study's interview protocol allows women's voices to be heard and understood within an encouraging and safe context. To ensure the

confidentiality of the participants and uphold the highest degree of integrity for this study, many steps were taken to maintain a safe and encouraging interview context.

All interviews for this study were conducted at the location the participant chose. At no time did the interviews interfere with the natural flow of teaching or learning. For each interview, I brought with me: consent letters, a notebook, list of local mental health agencies, digital audio recorder, interview protocol, survey and numbered participant envelope, to place the completed survey and field notes in. Prior to conducting the interviews, participants were given the Letter of Information (Appendix D) and were asked to review the information it contained. Each participant was also asked to read and sign the Consent to Participate in Research (Appendix E) and Consent for Audio-Taping (Appendix H) forms. After all consent forms were signed, I reminded each participant that they could withdraw at anytime throughout the research process. Participants were then given the survey for their respective group (Appendix F,G) and time was taken to explain each section to the participant to ensure proper completion. Each participant completed the survey in privacy and was asked to notify me when they were finished. Upon completion of the survey, I placed it in the participant's envelope that was labeled with their given number to ensure confidentiality. Once the survey was placed in its respective envelope, I then began the semi-structured interview. All interviews were audio taped and questions regarding gender and leadership were asked from the Interview Protocol (Appendix I). Field notes were taken during the interview for accuracy and analysis purposes. **Data Analysis and Procedures**

Semi-Structured Interviews. All semi-structured interviews were audiorecorded and then transcribed verbatim for accuracy. Filler words (e.g., um, like, hmm) were eliminated for clarity, unless their removal interfered with context or accuracy. Transcripts were issued to the respective participants, who were then asked to verify and confirm the dialogue. The transcripts were then analyzed consistently with phenomenologic methods. Analyzing lived experiences using a phenomenological approach aims to constitute not only a set of different meanings, but an inclusive structure that relates the different meanings each participant brings to the interview (Åkerlind, 2005). This strategy allows a way of looking at the collective lived experiences of the participants, while still maintaining the differences between each.

The set of meanings that result from these categories were not determined in advance, but rather emerged from the data, and analyzed inductively (Åkerlind, 2005). An inductive approach to the analysis process begins with a search for meaning, or variation in meaning, within the interview transcripts, which is then supplemented by a search for structural relationships between meanings. While reviewing the transcripts, a high degree of openness was used to discover meanings, followed by more of a focused review of particular meanings and perspectives. Throughout this process, transcripts and quotes were also grouped and regrouped according to similarities and differences. In sum, analysis of the interviews consisted of: transcription of the audio-taped interview, review of the transcripts to discover any meanings or emerging themes, refining of categories and themes, identifying how the

themes fit within the theoretical framework and literature, and identifying quotes that highlight key theme (Åkerlind, 2005).

Survey. The purpose of the survey was to acquire the participants' demographic information and to determine the extent to which they agreed or disagreed with the Likert-scale questions. The Likert-scale questions were answered using the scale of responses ranging from 1 to 5. Participants were asked to circle the corresponding number based on their agreement with the statement. Response possibilities included: strongly disagree (1), disagree (2), neither agree or disagree (3), agree (4), and strongly agree (5). This survey was utilized as a supplementary resource to the semi-structured interviews. The survey was also used a guide for the interviews and answers that were provided on the survey were revisited during the interviews if necessary.

Ethical Considerations

To maintain the confidentiality of the participants in this study, each participant was assigned a number and was given a pseudonym. Numbers were assigned to each participant for their surveys. A pseudonym was used in the reporting of this thesis and only first names were used during the semi-structured interview. The school and school board that the participants belonged to remained anonymous and were not mentioned at any stage during the interview or thesis.

Consistent with the University of Windsor's Research Ethics Board expectations, all materials used in this study were kept in a locked filing cabinet and viewed only by myself and faculty thesis advisor. Voluntary withdraw was reinforced prior to commencing the interviews. Participants were also informed that I could use

the data from this study for future publications, conference presentations, or further studies if required. Many steps were taken prior to conducting the study and interview that also ensured the highest degree of ethical consideration for this study.

Before beginning the recruitment for this study, a research proposal and application to conduct research was submitted to the University of Windsor's Research Ethics Board. The application was then reviewed by the committee and was granted clearance to proceed. The school board this study was conducted in also granted approval. During the recruitment phase of this study, a letter of information was given to each prospective participant. If the participant was still interested in participating in this study, the letter of information was presented again at the time of the survey completion and interview. Each participant was also required to sign the consent form for audio-taped interviews and consent to participate in research. Following the interview, each participant was made aware that a list of local mental health agencies was available to them by the researcher, if they felt as though their experiences motivate them to do so. All participants were given a copy of their individual transcript. Findings of this study were also made available on the University of Windsor's Research Ethics Board website.

Conclusion

This study utilizes both a survey questionnaire and semi-structured interview questions to explore the experiences of current and aspiring female educational administrators. This study consists of both current female educational administrators (n=4) and aspiring female educational administrators (n=6). Aspiring female educational administrators were all taking part of their respective school board's

leadership mentoring program and ranged in age and years of teaching experience. Current female educational administrators consisted of the following positions: one secondary school principal, two elementary school vice-principals, and one elementary school principal. The results of both the survey and semi-structured interview provide a deeper understanding of their experiences pertaining to educational leadership positions.

CHAPTER IV

FINDINGS AND ANALYSIS

The data in this study were collected with the intention of understanding women's experiences with leadership. Data acquired through the semi-structured interviews and supplemental surveys, indicated four key themes: (1) *Intersection of Work and Family;* (2) *Mentoring Opportunities and Access to Resources;* (3) *Women's Work Relationships;* and (4) *Gender Politics.* This chapter will present the findings according to the four themes above.

Educational Leadership and the Intersection of Work and Family

For many female educational leaders, the typical workday extends beyond their formal paid labour work sphere, deep in to the domestic sphere, creating a "double day" for many women (Weis, 1988). Therefore, in addition to facing the complex, demanding, and challenging task of administering the responsibilities and duties of an effective school leader, many females are faced with the complex and difficult task of being the primary caregiver in their own families. Eagly and Carli (2007), contend that although men's participation in household duties and childcare is increasing, women still manage a larger majority of household duties. This juggling act between paid labour and work done in the home is what Lois Weis (1988) has described as the "double day" (p. 184). For Weis, women in the labour force, including female teachers and female administrators, are disadvantaged in their everyday life as the majority of responsibilities for childcare and housework create an additional job. The problem, according to Mason and Goulden (2002), is that the "double day" forces women to make decisions that affect their ability to advance their careers. Eagly and Carli (2007) point out women's domestic work load and responsibilities limits their access to leadership positions by reducing the amount of time, energy, and resources they can allocate to pursuing their career goals.

The decision to postpone a move into a leadership position in order to focus more closely on fulfilling the traditional role of mother was a common theme expressed by the women in this study. For example, the importance of being present in the lives of her children was a primary motive in initially postponing a move into educational leadership for Lucy, a current educational administrator. Lucy recalled her interest in educational leadership early in her career, but admits she may have felt pressure to postpone the decision because of the personal demands placed upon her:

Maybe I always wanted to be an administrator? But maybe I didn't let myself recognize that because of demands. I had a husband who had a career that called for him to work evenings, so you know he'd work three or four evenings per week and it was important for me to be home with my children. It was really important in their years, when they were growing up, when they were in dance and soccer and baseball that I was there for them.

Shaped by traditional understandings of gender, Lucy's response reflects to a degree the way some women postpone their decision to advance their careers by putting their husband's career first, over their own.

Lucy was not alone in her choice to prioritize being the primary caregiver to her children over her own career. Jennifer and Andrea also noted the importance of being present in the lives of their children. Jennifer, an aspiring educational administrator, communicated this as she expressed the concern she has regarding the intersection between home and work:

When I think about doing the administrator role and having my family. . . they conflict because my family is just as important as my career and that's why I've put things on hold because I can't do it...I can't do it until my kids are older. . . I have an almost four year old, she's just starting school and my son is in grade two and I want to give them that time, that mom time after school and I think if I wanted to do a good job as an administrator, I have to commit to the time and I don't think I can commit to the time right now.

Andrea indicated similar reasons for postponing advancing her career for marriage and children. What sets Andrea's statement apart from the other participants is her mention of embodying the nurturing mother role in order to be an effective educator:

You know what, when I got married and decided to have a family, that was my first priority and I really believe that in order to be a good educator and in order to really understand parents and children, you have to model that too. And you know what? They were my first priority all the way through. Even after my daughter was born, I went to teaching part-time because I wanted to raise her; I wanted to be there for her. So any other aspirations that I had were put on the back burner and I have no regrets doing that.

When asked if this was something she felt was a thought that most women experience, Andrea drew on an "essentialist" understanding of gender by suggesting women's choice to focus on family and postpone their careers is women's reason for

being, while men's is work: "Oh definitely. Definitely. I mean men . . . their main reason is their position, their job. Whereas women, we have other reasons for being. Yeah. And family was definitely a priority for me." Later in the interview, Andrea stated that, "You know what? I think young women rush too soon to get into these positions." When asked if she felt that young men rush into the positions too soon, Andrea replied by stating:

....when you said "what about men" that made me step back a bit. I always look at the young women I don't look at the young men . . . probably because I know the women are basically the caregivers of their family and you are always going to have to deal with that. And you know what? I think young women that go into educational leadership too soon miss out on a lot with their young kids, with their own children. And they're constantly feeling guilt. So why put yourself in the position where you have guilt?

Here, Andrea draws on a particular version of traditional gender ideology, which positions women as the 'natural' and assumed 'primary caregiver' of children. Unfortunately, there is no sense that Andrea complicates understandings of gender and gender relations by considering it a possibility that men can also be primary caregivers in their families. Finally, it is also interesting to note how Andrea also reflects a key feature of traditional gender ideology, which regulates women internally in ways that often makes them feel guilty when they do not live up to the traditional gender scripts.

The challenge of balancing work and family obligations was evident in Lucy's recollection of her earlier years in an administrative position:

... balance is very hard to achieve okay. We as females, and you're not there yet in having a family and that kind of stuff, but you are there as far as being married. It's not unusual to, you know, go home and you're making your dinner and you're thinking about all the things that you know ... the day is going back over in your head and how you're going to react to a situation. Sometimes you're absent. Your kids will be sitting there talking to you and you're absent from the conversation because you're so preoccupied with what's going on. I work really, really hard on trying to achieve balance in my life. And I don't always do a great job of it.

Now in the later years of her career, Lucy continued to reflect on the personal and professional benefits of her career and how the challenges of balancing work and family have slightly decreased:

I'm still there for my kids, but you know what, in a very different way now, because this is very demanding. I also think the shelf-life in this job is (pause) ... I think people have to be careful not to get into this too early, because I

think the burnout factor is huge.

Andrea had a similar opinion regarding the demands of the position and questions at one point, the motives for young females to enter the position at a younger age, "I'm going to be honest. I don't understand why young *women*, not men, who are raising families even consider administration in that stage in their lives!" When asked why she felt that was the case, Andrea expressed her perception of the demands of the position by providing this rationale:

Because administration is very . . . I don't want to say it sucks the life out of you, but it can be very draining if you really want to give it your all. I don't know how . . . I could never balance the two and feel like I did a good job at both, which is why I waited. Even when my daughter was young, I taught half-time because I wanted . . . It's either all or nothing. And I don't know how you'd balance that. And especially as a young administrator, I don't know how they do that. I really don't.

As previously discussed, unlike men, women's decision to become an administrator is often influenced by their plans for raising a family (Powell & Graves, 2003). Moreover, reflected in this statement is the idea that women differ in terms of how they manage the work and family interface and the complexities that involve a wide array of choices, as well as constraints. As Andrea highlights, issues of balance, time, connectedness with children and a spouse's achievement, and individuality infiltrate women's lives, in different ways than men's.

Within this study, both groups of women experienced very unique and different experiences regarding the work and family interface. For example, in comparison to the other women in this study, Diane and Tiffany, tell a slightly different story of their work and family experiences. Diane, a current administrator who started her career as an educational administrator in her early 30s, recalls her experience of being pregnant with her first child, her choices regarding work and family, and the overwhelming support for family from her school board director at the time:

I was actually 8 ½ months pregnant when they gave me the position. I had to bring to their attention that I was pregnant and would not be assuming that position when they gave it me because I was on a full year [maternity] leave. In all honesty, I have to admire the director that hired me because he said to me . . . "you're never going to have this opportunity again" he says, "what were your plans?" and I said, "I planned to take an entire year" and he said "you take that entire year, because you'll never have that experience again." I have three children and with every child, work has not factored into any of that. When I was hired, I was actually, like I said, as a vice-principal; I was as I said 8 ½ months pregnant. I did not start the job until a year later, when I came back.

Diane's experience with balancing work and family highlights the need for supportive workplace policies and leaders who are concerned with equity. For example, when asked why she felt as though her experiences have been positive, Diane responds by suggesting that her efforts to create a workable and equitable balance was only possible through an effective broader support system. Within her reflection is also the acknowledgement that priorities should remain equal for both males and females:

I think we put it upon ourselves more, that we have to be everything to everyone, and that's not realistic. You just do the best you can in every aspect of it. Obviously your priority first, should be your family. But again, that's not just for a female, that's for everyone. Our families should come first, your children, your husband, wives spouses, whatever, they come first and

everything falls around it. I think it speaks more to the relationships that you have and the support that you have than anything necessarily.

This sense of support and balance present in relation to Diane's work and family is one of the many benefits for working mothers. Dorio et al. (2008) also highlight that women who balance the work and family interface also experience many positive effects such as enrichment, enhancement, and effective performance in work and family roles. Ford, Heinen, and Langkamer (2007) also note that support from family and work facilitates a stronger sense of satisfaction in women's lives. Eagly and Carli (2007) maintain that increasing the number of women who can successfully have children and uphold their careers ambitions depends on men becoming more equally involved in the domestic sphere.

Much like Diane, Tiffany, speaks of her own personal and professional benefits she has experienced while being an educational administrator:

I think I feel a great sense of accomplishment. I never gave up my goals or felt I sacrificed anything I ever wanted to achieve. Sure it's busy and yes, there are very stressful days, but I don't think that it is fair to expect there not to be. I worked very hard for this position and I feel that by reaching my goals, I have a sense of fulfillment in that. Being a mother and successful career woman has only intensified that fulfillment.

Tiffany's experiences reflect the research that shows women who successfully balance work and family through having access to systems of support that are equitable and fair derive many benefits including: financial stability and success, happier marriages, and greater life satisfaction (Bennetts, 2007; Ford et al., 2007;

Hirshman, 2006). Her comments also demonstrate the way in which gender relations are worked out in different ways in different family contexts.

For some women, the impact of working a 'double day' was a source of significant frustration and anger. Jennifer, for example, discusses her feelings toward an overall workload that is unfair and inequitable, compared to her husband's:

You ask any girl in this school that's married and we're the ones that pick up a lot, along with making more than what our husbands make now too. I mean, *that's* an issue for your paper too. That's an issue for me! I make double what my husband makes, so you get into those arguments at home about well, "can you pay for this?" "well no, you make double!" The roles have reversed entirely. So, not only are we making more, we work pretty hard as a teacher and if you're an administrator you work *really* hard! Then you have to do your mom role: cooking, cleaning, homework. So I think now-a-days, we have that much more to do than we used to.

While Jennifer articulates a sense of unfairness specifically about the way the division of labour is highly gendered in her home, she also directs our attention to a new trend: the increase in the number of female primary breadwinners within families (Statistics Canada, 2011). In the past, one of the ways men were able to excuse themselves from contributing an equal share of labour at home was through appealing to the notion that they are responsible for being the primary breadwinners (Connell, 1995). As Jennifer's comment highlights, no longer able to appeal to the patriarchal logic of the primary breadwinner discourse, some men still seem reluctant to divest themselves of male privilege creating an additional source of frustration for women.

Finally, the intersection of work and family created other kinds of concerns for some women that revealed the logic of working within a male power structure. When searching for a teaching position, for example, some women expressed concern that they would be discriminated against if they were thought to be considering having a family. Anne recalls, for example, the pressure she felt to hide that she was pregnant when applying for her first teaching position, "... when I got hired by the board and when I went for my interview, I was expecting and I was a little worried about that." Although human rights laws across Canada (in Ontario, the Ontario *Human Rights Code*, or the *Code*) prohibit employers from discriminating against individuals in hiring, firing, or manipulating the terms and conditions of employment because of personal characteristics, including pregnancy (Ontario Human Rights Commission, 2012; Commission for Labour Cooperation, 2012), the fear of being discriminated was present in some of the women's reflections. The Ontario Human Rights Commission's Policy on Discrimination Because of Pregnancy and *Breastfeeding* (2008) contains the Ontario Human Rights Commission's interpretation of the provisions of the Ontario Human Rights Code relating to pregnancy and breastfeeding. Anne was concerned her pregnancy may have prevented her from being successful in her job interview: "Um. . . I just felt that if they knew I was expecting, maybe they wouldn't want to hire me? I just thought that they'd hire somebody else. So I actually tried to hide that you know by what I wore." When women make the decision to become mothers and exercise the right to take a maternity leave, this can insinuate that they are less committed to their position than men and are more willing to remove themselves from their career path (Kellerman &

Rhode, 2007). The fear of being perceived as not as committed to the role of an educator as a man resulted in Sarah feeling it was necessary to hide her pregnancy to avoid being overlooked for a position. Finally, the sense of worry highlighted above is unique to women as it is often assumed that women will be the primary caregivers (Mason & Goulden, 2002). As such, this particular concern needs to be understood in relation to schools as structural sites for the exercise of male privilege and power.

Clearly, the complex intersection of work and family created a number of challenges to the women in this study including navigating the 'double day.' In addition to the challenges of the work and family intersection, research (e.g., Davies, 2004; Paludi, 2008; Pichler et al., 2008) suggests that access to resources is another inhibiting factor to women's acceleration into top-tier educational leadership positions. It is this factor that I turn to now.

Educational Leadership and Females' Access to Resources

That school administration has been a man's world is well documented (Blackmore, 1987; 2006). One way that educational administration remains largely a "man's world," is through the sustaining and maintaining of "the old boys' network." The phrase "old boys' network" is commonly used to describe a system that ensures male privilege and power at the expense of women. Through this type of informal gender-based network, men secure economic, social, and political advantage, reflecting the way education systems are also male power structures. The lack of connection to the informal power system has been identified as a contributing barrier to women who pursue educational leadership (Paludi, 2008; Searby &Tripses, 2006). As Paludi (2008) notes, the maintaining and functioning of an old boys' network limits women's access to resources, career advice, and mentoring.

Some participants discussed how the 'old boys' network' secures male privilege for male educators. Tracey, for example, describes how networking experiences within the formal mentoring program allows men greater access to the informal power networks:

Well, it depends how they're involved with their school. Because if you're a [male] coach and you're involved in athletics, you're going to find all those people and I think to a certain extent there is an old boys' club and you just. . . it's kind of like high school. All the jocks hang out together and they get more opportunities to network that way.

Tracey's comment gestures toward the way schools are structured along relations of power that reward particular kinds of males. Within the current gender regime found in and out of schools, men (and high school boys) who demonstrate athletic prowess on the basketball court, football field, or ice rink accumulate enormous amounts of social and cultural capital (Messner, 1997). By being a 'jock' or connected to 'jock' culture, men (and boys) are able to trade on their status in ways that secures for them privilege and power. Situated in the politics of gender, women and men (and boys) who are not 'jocks' often times find themselves on the lower rungs of the gender hierarchy.

Access to resources which includes formal and informal mentoring and networking, are key factors in professional development, and are also contributing factors to those who succeed in leadership positions (e.g., Davies, 2004; Grant-Vallone & Ensher, 2011; Mendez-Morse, 2004; Paludi, 2008; Ryan & Haslam, 2007). According to Gardiner et al. (2000), as women have entered into educational leadership, they have experienced limited access to productive mentoring relationships, further limiting their access to top-tier educational leadership positions. This lack of mentoring results in fewer females in educational administration and therefore, limits the number of female role models for aspiring female educational administrators, especially non-white female educational administrators (Gardiner et al., 2000). This finding raises many concerns for female educational administrators in particular, since it has been noted that the most effective mentoring relationships typically arise naturally among individuals who share important similarities such as sex, race, ethnicity, background, and interests (Brooks & Brooks, 1993).

In addition to limited access to productive mentoring relationships, many women have also expressed the desire for more mentoring experiences. For example, in an analysis of participant's journal entries on the topic of mentorship, Searby and Tripses (2006) found that female participants demonstrated a yearning for a mentoring relationship as well as the need for support and encouragement from a mentor. Within this study, aspiring female educational administrators noted their experiences were characterized by insufficient opportunities for networking.

The topic of mentoring and networking for current and aspiring female educational administrators has been divided into two sections, due to the differences in years of experience, specific training provided for the two roles as educator and administrator, and different opportunities to access a variety of resources. Their collective experiences will first be explored, with a focus on how gender influences access to resources, and then will be separated to focus on the specific role and

gender relations. In comparison to the aspiring female educational administrators, current administrators expressed mixed feelings about the discussions of mentorship (i.e., networking and mentoring opportunities). More specifically, many of the current female educational administrators expressed their satisfaction with the informal and formal networks they have developed and maintained; yet at times, they also mentioned the existence of an "old boys' network" that weaved and bound together the senior leaders at the school board level. Females in this study touched upon the privilege and power attributed to one's membership in the "old boys' club." Supporting this argument is Lucy's statement that there are women, who are "waiting" to be a director and to be given that opportunity. Making reference to the senior positions in her school board, Lucy describes them as dominated by males and situated within the context of an "old boys' club", Lucy states:

... I still think that the jobs, the key, top jobs in the board ... even though I have no interest in aspiring to it, and I wrote that one my survey, I think that those directors of education are still male-dominated. I think there's a lot of women who would aspire to be a director and who are waiting to have that opportunity. I don't think that females are given that opportunity as much as men are.

Although employees are legally protected against discrimination based on their gender, Lucy's statement brings attention to the hidden preference for male directors, especially in the highest position on the educational leadership hierarchy. This next section will explore in more detail, the mentoring and networking experiences of current female educational administrators.

Mentoring: Current and Aspiring Female Educational Administrators

According to Gardiner et al. (2000), as more women have entered educational leadership, they have experienced limited access to productive mentoring relationships. While exploring the mentoring of current female educational administrators, the women in this study expressed an appreciation of and satisfaction with the mentoring opportunities and mentors available to them by their school board. In comparison to aspiring educational administrators, the current female educational administrators seemed to have a wider variety of mentors to choose from. Given their years of employment with the school board or the past and current positions (e.g., a vice-principal working in conjunction with a principal), this is easy to understand. Moreover, these connections facilitate easier access to mentoring and networking opportunities via email and phone, and the desire to continue to seek out their own informal mentoring and networking opportunities when they felt it was necessary. Gender played a role in Lucy's networking when she specifically chose a male due to her already developed "female" network. Her choice to select a male for her formal mentor and network source was done so that she could develop herself professionally:

... when they felt that I had enough female contacts that I could tap into, my female mentors who were my informal mentors and I feel that women had um ... you know what along the way, I had had that network, and I continued to have that network. So, when I was choosing a formal mentor, I did choose a male, but it was for a very different reason. It wasn't because, you know what, we were going to share what it was like to have a family and then try to

balance family and then marriage and responsibility. It was very much as far as developing my own self, curriculum wise.

Also highlighting how gender influences females' networks is Tiffany, who noted who she chooses to turn to when seeking 'quick and emotionally detached' advice: "I have a few male colleagues who are in the same position as me and when I want that objective advice, I will call them. I'm not sure if it's a male thing, but it works for me." What is interesting in Tiffany's comment is that she draws from the patriarchal gender binary, whereby she conflates notions of 'objectivity' (read: logical) with being male, while implying an assumed relationship between subjectivity (read: emotional) and being female. Although feminist research long ago (see, for example, Smith, 1987, pp. 70-72) repudiated this gender binary, it, unfortunately, still informs the thinking for some educational leaders.

Traditional understandings of gender, which draw from out-dated gender binaries, also shaped participants' relationships when they sought advice. Rachel, for example, discussed the assumed 'differences' between male and female "teachers in charge" in her school:

... if you need something done and you needed it done, and you needed it taken care of, I'd go to him. Cause it was done, deal, finished, Tout [referring to the male teacher in charge] ... I'd go to the other teacher in charge [name omitted] who is a female, same amount of experience, same amount of time, same amount of qualifications. She gives me the perspective of "Did you think about this? Did you try that? Did you look here? Did you go with this?" and it's the same if I need something easy, short, sweet, to the point, I go to [name

omitted]. Take care of it ... I don't care, tell us the fact, get me an answer. If I need the nurturing aspect where I need to go "what do you think about this?"; "should I call Children's Aid?"; "should we do this instead?"; "how can we help this family?"; "what do you think we can do?"; or "how can I get this kid to be better at this?"; "Can you give me an idea?" I go to her.

Rachel's response again gestures toward the way some female administrators operate from a simplistic gender binary, which positions women and men as essentially different: women "take care" and men "take charge."

Rachel elaborates further:

Male was you went in, you did your job, no foo foo, no chit chatting, no nothing. Tell me what you need to know and get out. Done. It was black and white. But, you always knew that they had your back, you said what it is, and they knew to take care of it, be finished.

Unfortunately, the reproduction of gender in this way, not only denigrates female leaders by suggesting male superiority in leadership, but also strengthens the broader social and political patriarchal discourse, which locates women as naturally the 'nurturers' and men as the 'natural' go to leaders of the organizations or educational institutions.

Moreover, Rachel's comment reflects the way female leaders tend toward a more consensual version of leadership, whereby they tend to help teachers and others contribute to solutions via a focus on delegation and encouragement. Research shows that female leaders will often support consensual decision making, but men tend to lean toward majority rule and tend to emphasize the product, the goal (Growe and

Montgomery, 1999). Male leaders, as reflected in Rachel's comment, seem to enact a version of leadership, which operates a traditional top-down administrative style. In short, women leaders, as Growe and Montgomery (1999), tend to be "more interested in transforming people's self-interest into organizational goals by encouraging feelings of self-worth, active participation, and sharing of power and information."

Women also expressed preference for male mentors. Referring to the transparency of male mentors and administrators, Andrea describes how gender influenced her preference to work for male administrators:

I would prefer to work for a male administrator. Because you know, with

males, it's black and white with a little bit of a grey area. Whereas, females,

it's all grey. With females the emotions and the heart comes into play. Similar to Andrea's reply, Lucy also expressed a preference to work with males, based on her past experiences of being stunted in her position as vice-principal, while working with a female principal. Lucy recalls feeling stunted in her former role as a vice-principal, and compares the leadership styles of her former male and female principals:

My other [former] principal was a female, who would not let me do anything. I was really stunted in that role. In fact, I remember saying very clearly, "I won't be able to do this for the whole year". And what was so frustrating to me in that role was, I was just coming out of that curriculum consulting role, I had that curriculum piece, and when staff would say can we talk about our literacy centres . . . grade one teachers, that was during my career was spent in

grade one. And so you know, I wanted so much to have those conversations, but my principal wouldn't allow that to happen.

Not only does Lucy touch upon the perceived differences between her male and female mentors, regarding how her male principal allowed her to utilize the skill set she acquired from her previous positions, her female colleague seemed to view her as a threat or a form of competition. Lucy's female administrator demonstrates her resistance to a relational leadership style that is typically expected of female administrators by colleagues and co-workers. She also notes the presence of hostility expressed by her female colleague and resultant stunted development. Freire (2000) refers to this hostility between women and purposeful stunting of development as "horizontal violence." Freire (2000) describes the term 'horizontal violence' as a way of acting out the internalization of negative stereotypes placed upon the oppressed individual by the dominant societal group, in an attempt to regain a sense of power (p.62). Horizontal violence can occur as indirect aggression or as intentional and harmful behaviour.

Some experienced female leaders also talked about their experiences with "silencing" (Brunner, 2000). "Silencing" of women by men is typically a reality in the lives of female educational administrators. In some cases, some women will 'selfsilence' for the purposes of self-preservation. Patricia, for example, felt as though she had experienced this with a former male administrator when she was in her early years as vice-principal. Here is Patricia: "I just got the sense that at times, he was apprehensive about my decision-making capabilities and took charge most of the time. It could've been my experience, but he was more old school and didn't like to

be challenged." Patricia's comment needs to be understood in relation to the way acceptable leadership has been constructed as "masculine". The male principal's adoption and performance of a particular version of gendered male leadership is demonstrated in the way he "takes charge" and does not "like to be challenged", key features of a traditional version of masculinity. For female leaders, working with men who adopt an "old school" masculinity, may result in not being taken seriously as leaders, as they are viewed as a woman first, leaders second (Shakeshaft, 1989).

Networking: Current Female Educational Administrators

According to Kadushin (2004) a network is a formation of relationships that can be evaluated at the individual level, the organizational level, or at a larger level such as national or global. These networks may contain individuals who are considered to be acquaintances who are only peripherally connected to the set of relationships, or those who play a significant role in relationship building (Grogan & Shakeshaft, 2011). Further, "networks may involve many intersections of mutual support and cross-membership, fostering an interdependence that can provide a basis for concerted action" (Diani, 1992; cited from Grogan & Shakeshaft, 2011, p. 48).

Current female educational administrators expressed a greater satisfaction with the level of networking than aspiring administrators in terms of their formal and informal mentoring opportunities. Mentoring opportunities for current administrators seemed to facilitate these networks as indicated by Andrea, who is currently enrolled in her school board's mentoring program ". . .the mentoring helps you create a network of other [people] in the same situations as you are which is really nice." Many of the current administrators also emphasized the importance of establishing a

network of support for oneself *prior* to pursuing a leadership position, for the sake of developing a positive reputation. Developing a positive reputation was something some women seemed to rely on to view as a form of acceptance in their respective school board and a validation of their success.

Discussions of having a positive reputation via networking were recognized as a contributing factor to their success and ease of obtaining their current position. This was evident when Andrea was asked if she was successful in her first attempt to becoming an educational administrator:

Immediately. I put in my application in May, I got my interview in June and I got a position in October. So it happened very, very quickly. But I had already developed a reputation and you know what? That is *huge*! ... You have to develop that reputation because a lot goes on your reputation and I know there was one question in there, if they really looked at the qualifications? I think they look to see that you have them, but I don't think that made them decide whether you would get a position or not or even whether you would get in the pool. Like I know they talk, they ask around, and I know... I had a good reputation as an educator and I had a good reputation in the board system wide, so I had no problems at all.

The way Andrea attributed her success in securing a leadership position, is similar to the ways in which other women in leadership positions tend to be more modest when attributing their success to their skills, ultimately downplaying their success (Cleveland, Stockdale, & Murphy, 2000). This self-depreciation is another

characteristic of the oppressed, which derives from the internalization of others' opinions (Freire, 2000).

Gender also seemed to influence the "way" women networked and how they utilized their opportunities to network. For example, Tiffany stated that when she and her female colleagues "network" the conversation seems to drift way from talk about careers to talk about their home life:

Well, I do see how men have a certain advantage over women in terms of networking. I feel like when women network and talk, we talk more about our personal life than work. With men, it's all business and politics. For women, it's our kids, what's for dinner, and each other.

Tracey also mentioned the ways in which women in her network tend to discuss topics that are not professional in nature, often failing to optimize the potential for professional discussions:

...women (pause) I don't know they tend to be more quiet. I don't... we talk, yes. But not about (pause) ... it's not a natural conversation ... "so where you headed with your career?" It's more about your home life and the kids and what they're up to. It's not really networking professionally.

The statements made by Tiffany and Tracey demonstrates to a degree the way in which topics of conversation within networks are gendered. Situated in a capitalist society, men's gender identity historically has centred on work (Connell, 1995). An ideal worker within the paid labour force-- understood to be male--was someone who put work before family, who could work long hours, and who didn't take much time off for personal matters. As such, it is easy to see how male leaders working day-today tend to create and perform an 'acceptable' version of masculinity for public consumption, choose topics for their network-conversations that reflect traditional male spheres such as work and politics. Not so with many women; because many women, including those in this study, are still primarily responsible for child care, family care, and home care responsibilities, it is not surprising that the conversation between and among women take a turn to the domestic sphere.

Networking: Aspiring Female Educational Administrators

Within this study, aspiring administrators often cited their lack of networking opportunities within their school board's leadership mentoring program. Many women in this study saw the program as an opportunity to build upon their existing network, but soon realized it was far more challenging due to various circumstances. When asked if the mentoring program provided by her board provides sufficient opportunities for networking, Jennifer replied:

No. I think it's that the leadership course is really just a (brief pause). I had heard the word *networking* was a key word in it. I have yet to hear it. I haven't heard networking yet . . .

Tracey also felt the need for more opportunities, "Personally, I'd like to have more opportunities to mentor, to shadow, to talk with people." Interestingly, as Tracey continued to discuss the networking experiences within the program, she attributed the ability and ease of networking for men to the presence of an "old boys" club" in the program as well as a mention of gender differences in networking:

... women (pause) I don't know they tend to be more quiet. I don't ... we talk, yes. But not about ... it's not a natural conversation ... "so where you headed with your career?" It's more about your home life and the kids and what they're up to. It's not really networking professionally.

Leading back to her discussion of work and family, Tracey mentions how family responsibilities complicate her ability to engage in extracurricular coaching, thereby limiting her access to male-dominated groups that provide and secure power and privilege. Also noticing a gendered divide in regard to networking, Sarah commented on the presence of an "old boys' club" in board-level leadership positions:

Well, the top of our board is a very (pause) ya know, a well connected group of men who taught together and moved through the system together and now they're superintendents together. They're all together and the women, who have come along with them, are not enhancing their decision capabilities or capacities in anyway. They're simply there um. . . just saying "yes, I'll do whatever it is" [referring to board directives] and so this is what they're telling us.

Also inherent in Sarah's response are indications of organizational male power and the presence of an organizational networking structure discussed by Grogan and Shakeshaft (2011). Access to the "old boys' club" is an additional source of social capital, which is a catalyst for organizational power (Grogan & Shakeshaft, 2011). For women who do not have access to this club, they in turn experience a less power in an organization, a power that can yield tremendous amounts of influence in the

decision making process. In addition to yearning for more networking opportunities, aspiring female educational administrators also voiced their suggestions for ways to improve the mentoring program implemented by their respective school board (see Appendix C). The participants' experiences, suggestions, and observations are noted in the following section.

Mentoring: Aspiring Female Educational Administrators

The importance of formal and informal mentoring of current and aspiring leaders has been identified as a highly contributing factor to the success of employees' careers (e.g., Pauldi, 2008; Peters, 2010; Ryan & Haslam, 2007; Wallen & Crippen, 2008). It is also viewed as key in professional development and promotion (Mendez-Morse, 2004). Mentoring can also include both formal and informal mentoring strategies. Formal mentoring typically includes the establishment of goals, specific timelines and guidelines for interaction, and a pairing of a protégé and an experienced individual that is active in the protégé's training position (Eby & Lockwood, 2005; OCT, 2010; Peters, 2010; Scandura & Williams, 2001). Informal mentoring relationships are more casual in nature and develop independently of an organization (Scandura & Williams, 2001). In this study, aspiring female educational administrators referred to both types of networking relationships and reflected on their experiences with both. While all women were aware of formal mentoring opportunities within their school board, a common concern was the insufficient amount given to participate in job-shadowing experiences.

Aspiring female educational administrators were asked questions that pertained to (a) knowledge of formal mentoring opportunities; (b) their experiences

with formal and/or informal mentoring opportunities; and (c) their satisfaction with the formal and/or informal mentoring opportunities. All participants were knowledgeable about formal mentoring opportunities within their school board, as they had all either completed or were completing the formal mentoring leadership program geared towards aspiring administrators. When asked about their formal and informal mentoring opportunities, all aspiring female educational administrators expressed a high-level of satisfaction of their shadowing experience and relationship between them and their mentor. All females in this study selected a fellow female as their mentor. Mentors included females that were active vice-principals, principals, and school board consultants. Interestingly, school board consultants were a popular job shadow selection and many women regarded the consultant position as a "stepping stone" to leadership.

Each of the aspiring educational administrators who participated in this study had positive shadowing experiences and regarded the opportunity as a highly beneficial and empowering. The participants identified this shadowing experience as a practical and informative experience, but insufficient in terms of its duration. While the mentoring program serves to provide knowledge regarding the position and its responsibilities, the responses from the participants indicated that this goal of the program did not fulfill their expectations or needs. The program was reduced from a 3-year program to a 2-year program, which includes the single half-day shadowing experience. Tracey expressed her enjoyment of her shadowing opportunity and yearned for it to occur on more than one occasion and for a longer period of time, "…personally, I'd like to have more opportunities to mentor, to shadow, to talk with people. That's very nice because it's all arranged for you and that's all part of the course. But I would like more." Anne also expressed her desire for more shadowing opportunities to get an accurate impression of what a leadership role consists of, "Okay, I think that the main thing that came up in our leadership course when we all shared, was that we were only able to do it for a half a day and it was not enough time to get a true picture." When asked about the level of preparation the mentoring program provides, Sarah commented, "okay, so you know... very little in terms of ok... we have this leadership course and it actually used to be 3 years and it's now 2 years." Given the beneficial outcomes of a strong mentoring program, consideration of expanding the frequency of shadowing experiences could be highly beneficial for women, as many described it as "empowering". Although all women described this experience as positive and empowering, recent studies and research have shown (1970; 2000; Jones & Palmer, 2011; Litwin, 2006) that another aspect influenced by gender, is the competitiveness and hostility between female colleges, especially when the relationship is hierarchical in nature.

Female Work Relationships and Educational Leadership

Relationships between female colleagues in the workplace complicated the relationship between gender and leadership. This is not surprising, as the existing literature (Freire, 2000; Jones & Palmer, 2011; Litwin, 2006) on relationships between women in the workplace have established the conflicts that arise between and among women working and competing within the same context. Women's identity as an oppressed member of society oftentimes leads to the hostility and self-oppression inherent in women's workplace relationships.

Identification as a minority and traditionally oppressed member of society may lead women to develop covert actions to create an advantage over their competition (Jones & Palmer, 2011). Besides the most commonly cited theories of why women struggle to reach senior leadership positions, it is also thought by some researchers that women are becoming their own barrier, due to how they treat one another in the workplace (Jones & Palmer, 2011). Although not discussing women and leadership directly, Freire's (2000) work is helpful here in that he defines this kind of sabotaging behaviour as "horizontal violence" (p.62). Commonly cited behaviours that reflect this horizontal violence between women in leadership positions and between colleagues include: (1) competition between female coworkers; (2) an inability of to view one another as team members, suspicions as to how fellow female colleagues earned positions of power (insinuating inappropriate relationships with supervisors); (3) reluctance to speak out about discriminatory practices; (4) generational conflicts with younger female leaders; (5) unclear and unspoken friendship expectations between women; (6) taboos against discussing the boundary confusion of women's friendship in the workplace; and (7) the illusion of powerlessness women experience as a result of internalize negative gender stereotypes (Jones & Palmer, 2011; Litwin, 2006).

When asked to describe their past and present mentoring relationships, relationships with colleagues, and the relationships that were formed during mentoring programs offered by their respective school board, both current and aspiring female educational administrators described the many examples of horizontal violence in the workplace. The commonly discussed and experienced sabotaging

behaviours that occurred for the participants in this study included: (1) competition between female co-workers and an inability to view one another as team members; (2) generational conflicts with younger female leaders; (3) unclear and unspoken friendship expectations between women; and (4) taboos against discussing the boundary confusion of women's friendship in the workplace.

Competition Between Female Coworkers. When asked to describe the mentoring program that the aspiring female educational administrators were currently a part of, many women often referred to the complicated and sometimes negative behaviour of others within their learning group or collective program group. For example, discussion of the program often reverted to a discussion about the competitive nature of women in the program. The reality that current administrators were in an administrative position and aspiring administrators were all competing for these limited positions seemed to influence the level of competitive than women (and girls), when discussing competiveness, males were often seen as the "quieter" gender, while women seemed to compete for attention and recognition:

If anything the males tend to be quieter, where the girls are fighting more for the "pay attention to me" and I will be quiet. I don't, I don't bow down to that, I shadowed in December a principal and I expressed my concerns with that because if that's how you become a leader...by "look at me, look at me" I won't end up becoming a leader because I can't do the horse and pony show. Ya...it's not me.

Jennifer's experiences coincide with the findings from Jones and Palmer (2011) in that women will often view fellow colleagues as a threat rather than a colleague. Andrea also expressed being perceived as a threat and being minimized in her role as she recalled the difference she experienced between her male and female administrators:

I have seen working with principals; some females . . . I felt, resented me coming in because I had that curriculum piece that they didn't have. So I have seen that being minimized by a female principal. Whereas a male principal I found they embraced it a little bit more.

Lucy also recalled a comparable experience in her position as vice-principal, where she felt as though her female principal at the time saw her as a threat, rather than a valuable resource for her staff:

My other principal was a female, who would not let me do anything. I was really stunted in that role. In fact, I remember saying very clearly, "I won't be able to do this for the whole year." And what was so frustrating to me in that role was, I was just coming out of that curriculum consulting role, I had that curriculum piece ... I wanted so much to have those conversations, but my principal wouldn't allow that to happen and that to me was like I can't work within, if we're going to be as females, threatened by each other.

It is easy to see how viewing fellow female co-workers as a threat may serve patriarchal interests. In other words, one way to ensure oppressed groups remain oppressed is through the method of divide and conquer, as Freire's (2000) has shown. When women see other women as a threat, they are less likely to organize collectively

and work together to achieve economic, social and political success. This strategy ensures that those in power-- remain in power.

Many women describe different expectations for behaviours from female and male bosses, expecting more relational behaviour from female bosses (Litwin, 2006). Interestingly, Rachel describes an experience where she felt frustrated and ignored by a female colleague, who did not ignore males:

It was just her own personal thing . . . her insecurity. It was just her as a person. She just knew how to hang out with the guys. She liked to hang out with them, say hi to them, you know whatever. And I'm like "you just walked right by, you didn't even say hi are you kidding me right now. You wonder why we're pissed? We're pissed because you don't say hi to us, like what are you doing?

Rachel's response to her treatment reflects the way some women can be let down by other women, who may be adhering more closely to the norms of the gendered workplace. Rachel goes on to discuss how some female leaders may not be supportive in ways that encourage and help aspiring leaders:

And it was one of those (pause) where she just kind of migrated towards them [male staff] and it's when I was like "Okay, what's the deal" and she's like, "There seems to be some friction between us" and I said, "Yeah, there is. Do you want to hear what I want to tell you? You're my administrator" or, I said, "Do you want me to tell you what you want to hear?

Other females in this study also explained the difficulties they had experienced with befriending their female administrators and their shift in perspectives now that they are the administrators. Andrea noted this boundary confusion and the complications that arose as a result:

You know, I've only befriended a principal [female] once, and never again. Big, big mistake, because of that reason exactly. You know, you're out there, you're drinking with them [speaking of her former female administrator], you see that side of them . . . and you know what? I found it really difficult to come back into the building and to be the teacher and you're the administrator.

Women have been fighting for equality and parity within an environment that of limited positions for females. Situated in a male power structure, the limited availability of positions results in a kind of tokenism, which further exacerbates the challenges women already face. Viewing fellow colleagues as competitors may lead to negative behaviours such as sabotaging career goals, which may in turn sustain, maintain and reproduce male power.

Tensions between and among women, took on various forms. For example, in this study one of the female participants explained how a select group of female educational administrators are assimilating to the resultant name-calling of 'assertive' female leaders. One of the female participants revealed that a select group of female educational administrators within her school board proudly referred to themselves as the "blonde bitches." This was revealed as she expressed her concern that they may be referring to themselves as such, in order to increase their confidence as educational administrators or to assert their control:

... um okay I'll just say very frankly, in our board, there is a group of women principals who call themselves the blonde bitches. . . *proudly*! And they feel that in order to be an effective leader, that's how they have to lead, is by being, you know aggressive, by being it's my way or the highway, tough, and I don't subscribe to that . . . they're making a joke that um . . . their leadership style is uncaring, I guess . . . you know I don't know? I just think it's sad that you know I wouldn't want to be known for that as a leader.

Working within a masculine culture, where male norms such as 'assertiveness' and being 'tough' are conflated with effective leadership, it is not surprising that women may adopt these attributes in order to succeed. It is only within the logic of patriarchy that when some women display typical male attributes, thereby transgressing and troubling gender boundaries (Butler, 1990), that the derogatory term 'bitch' is used, whether by themselves or by others. But, it was not just the gender politics between and among women that shaped the participant's experiences in problematic ways.

Gender Politics

Participants in this study also noted that the gender politics between themselves as female leaders and older male students was also a cause for concern. Anne expressed this concern as she stated:

Okay, now the only thing that comes to mind might be the perception that students might have towards you. Especially male students, not so much in the younger grades, but in the older grades, that they might not take you as seriously because I find not all boys out there have respect for their mothers.

Here, Anne draws our attention to the way in which some boys internalize patriarchal attitudes toward women in general, female educators in particular. Situated in a culture that repeatedly objectifies women, repeatedly conveys the message that women are less than men, it is not surprising to find that the participants in this study felt a lack of respect toward them from the boys (Connell, 1995; Coulter & Greig, 2008; Martino, 2004; Skelton, 2010).

Tracey also expressed a similar concern about what parents and colleagues may feel towards a female educational administrator:

I think that there are still people out there and, you know, parents, who have the stereotype and when they come in, "ugh it's just a woman, I can deal with this" compared to a man. A parent as a male versus a woman. And even perhaps some of your colleagues, you're going to have to work with some of your teachers. Some of them might have the same stereotype and absolutely. People make judgments based on your appearance, based on your gender, based on your stature.

Educational administrators, as Tracey demonstrates, communicated their first-hand experiences with the larger issues of gender politics, whereby they felt restricted by traditional gender stereotypes. For Tracey and others, they were viewed as woman first, leaders second.

Lucy discussed her perception of the relationship between cultural differences and gender in terms of how a female's leadership role is respected. When asked if she felt that her identity as a woman ever conflicted with her identity as an educational administrator, Lucy responded by stating the following:

... only culturally sometimes, with different groups. Okay, sometimes we have different um....groups and I'm thinking more of the men like the eastern Middle Eastern men, so some of your men that come from Iraq and the Chaldean and sometimes they have a hard time making eye contact with a woman, and they also have a hard time when you are dealing with anything that has to do with discipline, especially their male sons. That a woman would be disciplining their sons, and they will come in and that can be intimidating and I don't think they mean to be disrespectful, it's just that they never really had a woman in a leadership role and so that is dealt with very differently. I can see that when my vice-principal, who is a male, when he deals with the same situation with that same clientele, the manner with which he is met is very different than what I've met and my female vice-principal has met. But I think that is more cultural and it's basically what that particular group is the value they put on women and you know what just the different roles that females and males have.

When asked the same question, Andrea also expressed similar views regarding the way gender shapes the ways male parents perceive her effectiveness and how she feels the added pressure to stand her ground, "You know what, I want to say yes, but I do know when it's a male parent coming in, you really have to prove yourself. You really have to stand your ground." She then continued to reflect on a time when a male parent expressed his views regarding her participation in the workforce: "I know even when I was in the classroom, I had a one father come to me and say, 'you don't belong in the school, you belong at home!' And it was a cultural difference." These

gendered experiences the administrators shared, highlight the complexity, challenges and issues some women leaders face due to changing immigration patterns.

The kind of gender politics female leaders had to navigate included facing issues of "gender blindness." Gender blindness includes the lack of acknowledgement or presence of gender's influence in the ongoing discrimination toward women. The problem with a gender blind approach is that it functions as an indirect act of discrimination, by overlooking the privileges that come with being a male in today's society (Connell, 1995; Sadker, Sadker, & Zittleman, 2009). The concept of gender blindness was also evident in the responses during the semi-structured interview, when asked questions pertaining to: (a) the perceived challenges to being an educational administrator; (b) whether or not they ever felt as though their gender identity, as a female, conflicts with their identity as a future or an aspiring educational administrator; and (c) the presence of females in board level leadership positions. Responses such as "to be completely honest, I don't know enough [challenges to being a female educational administrator] about it to give you an opinion because I truly don't know anything" and "in my experience, I'd have to say it [gender] doesn't really matter", "we have three female superintendents and one male superintendent. So you know, if I look at our board, I don't think there's any gender bias or preference . . . But I just think maybe that's because no females have ever applied?" and finally, "I don't like the term female. I like to just say as an educator or administrator" are all examples of how the influence of gender often goes unnoticed or unacknowledged.

Interestingly, some women did, in fact, acknowledge the preferential treatment of males in regard to senior leadership positions, but later back-tracked from their initial response. This was the case in Lucy's response, as she preceded her response with the statement that there is a balance of males and females in board level leadership positions (i.e., superintendents), but then followed it with a contradictory statement:

Well, I think superintendent that there's an equal balance of male and female, but I still think that the jobs, the key, top jobs in the board . . . even though I have no interest in aspiring to it, and I wrote that one my survey, I think that those directors of education are still male-dominated. I think there's a lot of women who would aspire to be a director and who are waiting to have that opportunity. I don't think that females are given that opportunity as much as men are. I don't think they are considered for that role as much as men are.

Lucy then acknowledged the gendered nature of these positions by stating, "... but they sit heavy on the curriculum side. I think you still see male[s] in traditional administrative roles in the business department and HR [Human Resources] and in the director's office." This statement indicates that despite Lucy's first statement, she is attuned to the gendered nature of board-level leadership positions. An awareness of the gendered nature of board-level leadership positions allows women to reflect critically on how certain positions of power (i.e., human resources, finance) are more often given to men and how other positions that coincided with "taking care" (i.e., superintendent of student achievement) are typically given to women.

Patricia also felt as though overcoming the perceived difficulty women have in terms of rising to senior leadership positions:

I think we all know that males have the upper hand for the highest positions. I think we have learned to just turn the other cheek, because what can we say? Who knows, maybe that will change? I mean I'd like to see more female directors in the future.

Patricia's statement reflects a perceived awareness of gender bias in hiring practices. However her statement also reflects a sense of powerlessness. This powerlessness Patricia demonstrated is consistent with what scholar Rosabeth Moss Kanter (1977) describes in her earlier work. Kanter (1977) describes this resultant sense of powerlessness that people in subordinated groups experience when they internalize the negative stereotypes of the dominant culture. This behaviour may also perpetuate the vicious cycle of self-sabotaging behaviours and horizontal violence described earlier (Freire, 2000). The inconsistency between opinions of gender equity, demonstrated in her survey and interview responses, as well as the manifestation of powerlessness in Patricia's response, are additional barriers and challenges that need to addressed.

Conclusion

This chapter provides an analysis of the results from data acquired through semi-structured interviews and a survey. Analysis of this data demonstrated that gender certainly influences educational leadership. Its influence was most evident during discussions of the following topics: the intersection of work and family; mentoring opportunities and access to resources; women's work relationships; and

gender politics. The main themes present in the discussions of work and family conflict included: the presence of role conflict between their role as a mother, wife, and current/aspiring administrator; tackling most of the domestic responsibilities; and the presence of a reinforcement of the belief that women "take care" and men "take charge." When discussing mentorship and access to resources, there was a startling difference in levels of satisfaction between current and aspiring female educational administrators. The majority of aspiring educational administrators felt dissatisfied with the level of preparation the program offered and yearned for increased shadowing and mentoring opportunities. Although most aspiring administrators were satisfied with their selected mentor, they desired more opportunities to be mentored by them. Discussions of mentoring also lead to the discussion of women's work relationships, as well as the stifling of professional development opportunities by other females, unclear friendship boundaries, and expectations of a relational leadership style and friendship from female leaders. Finally, many women in this study also expressed their experiences related to gender politics, including gender stereotypes, gender blindness, and the gendered nature of board level leadership positions. Discussions for future research as well as a way forward are offered in the subsequent section of this thesis.

CHAPTER V

DISCUSSION

This mixed-methods study used quantitative surveys and qualitative semistructured individual interviews to examine the women's experiences with leadership. This study explored two populations: women who are currently educational leaders and women who aspire to become educational leaders. The discussion chapter will focus on and address the main question of this study: What is the relationship between gender and educational leadership? The findings of the sub-questions will also be summarized. This chapter will provide a summary of how the research questions were answered through a review of the major findings, suggestions for future research, and provide recommendations for practice and policy.

Review of Major Findings and the Research Questions

Results from the semi-structured interviews and surveys highlight the main experiences and challenges that characterize the relationship between gender and educational leadership. The results also demonstrate the complexities involved when exploring women and educational leadership. For example, while women indicated in their survey that they felt there was an equal representation of females employed in leadership positions at the board level, discussions during the interviews lead to the expression that the same women felt as though the positions were gendered. Also, some women in this study expressed their own personal experiences with gender stereotypes, yet moments after, communicated their own. Many women in this study also expressed stark perceived differences between their experiences and the experiences of males. Gender had the greatest implications for the following themes:

(1) work and family conflict; (2) mentorship; (3) women's work relationships; and (4) gender stereotypes.

In the supplemental Likert-scale survey, participants were asked to provide feedback regarding statements about gender equity, mentorship, work and family, and recruitment and hiring practices. Given that this survey was utilized as a supplementary method of inquiry to the interviews, a broad overview of the results are provided below. Broadly categorized, participants provided the following feedback:

- 1. Although many of the women felt as though gender did not have a direct influence on the success of educational leaders, many expressed the recognition of a gendered structure to educational leadership. All women indicated that others support their current position and have supported their pursuit of an educational leadership position. Further, when discussing their desire to be an educational administrator or their current position, gender rarely entered the conversation. The area that indicated the greatest concern about gender equity was that most women felt as though there was not an equal representation of male and female educational leaders, on all level of the school board. Those that indicated that they felt gender does not have a direct influence on the success of educational leaders, contradicted this answer by disagreeing or strongly disagreeing that there was an equal representation of male and female educational leaders.
- 2. When asked about their mentoring experiences, every woman either agreed or strongly agreed that they were given an opportunity to work with a mentor.

Interestingly all current educational administrators agreed that there are different needs that must be addressed during the mentoring process, for female educational administrator. Aspiring female educational administrators also shared the same desire to have women's needs addressed during the mentoring process, with the exception of one aspiring educational administrator. Both current and aspiring female educational administrators agreed that they would feel more prepared in their current position, or when they applied for an educational leadership position if they completed a mentoring program (which all were currently completing or had completed).

3. When asked if they plan to postpone/have postponed applying for an educational leadership position, all of the women with the exception of Anne and Andrea indicated that they either strongly disagreed or disagreed with that statement. Anne neither agreed nor disagreed with the statement and Andrea agreed that she postponed pursuing an educational leadership position for marriage. When asked the same question, but related to postponing educational leadership for family all women, with the exception of Tiffany and Diane, indicated that they agreed with this statement. Tiffany and Diane disagreed with this statement. When asked if they often worry about the effects an educational leadership position of both agree and disagree. There was also the acknowledgment that an educational leadership position would impact their personal lives, despite their efforts to avoid this from occurring, which were expanded upon in the interviews.

4. Lastly, and perhaps the most indicative of gender equity in the field of educational leadership, were the perceptions of recruitment and hiring practices by the participants' respective school board. When asked if they were confident that their educational credentials would be or were considered when applying for an educational leadership position, all women, with the exception of one, agreed that they would be. However, some women indicated that they disagreed and in some cases strongly disagreed that their gender will have no influence on the hiring practices for an educational leadership position. This contradiction of replies indicates a sense of gender blindness that was explored in the previous chapter. Finally, when asked if they felt as though women have achieved equal status in both the recruitment and hiring process of educational leadership, all but 3 women indicated they felt this was the case. Again however, many of the same women that agreed with this statement indicated earlier in the gender equity questions that they felt as though there was a gendered structure to educational leadership positions, thereby contradicting this reply.

The main themes present in the discussions of work and family conflict were: the presence of role conflict between their role as a mother, wife, and current/aspiring administrator; tackling most of the domestic responsibilities; and the presence of a reinforcement of the belief that women "take care" and men "take charge." When discussing mentorship and access to resources, there was a startling difference of opinion in terms of satisfaction between the current and aspiring educational administrators. The majority of aspiring educational administrators felt dissatisfied

with the level of preparation the program offers as well as a yearning for increased shadowing and mentoring opportunities. Although most aspiring administrators were satisfied with their selected mentor, they desired more opportunities to be mentored by them. Gender influenced the mentoring process mainly when current administrators were already in their active vice-principal and principal position. This influence occurred when certain women experienced a stifling of their abilities and potential by their female counterparts they worked in conjunction with.

Due to the fact that the mentoring programs for current and aspiring educational administrators provided were offered in a group setting with both male and female colleagues, and were given in partnership with Ontario Ministry of Education guidelines (i.e., for current educational administrators), gender did not seem to influence the mentoring women received while enrolled in these programs. Current educational administrators expressed a higher level of satisfaction with their school board's mentoring program. Both current and aspiring female educational administrators also noted a difference in the level of mentoring offered by male and female colleagues when the candidates pursued their own individual mentor and while receiving mentoring outside of the program. A discussion of mentoring also led to the discussion of women's work relationships, the stifling of professional development opportunities by fellow females, unclear friendship boundaries, the ability to identify and model effective female educational administrators, and generational conflicts between females. Finally, although the women in this study felt as though their identity as a female did not interfere with their decision and aspirations to become an educational administrator, many women did express their

experiences and concerns with gender stereotypes, while in their past and current positions. Aspiring educational administrators in this study also expressed and reflected on the perceptions of others (i.e., colleagues, parents, society) about their role as a female educational administrator. Although some women demonstrated a sense of gender blindness, there was an overall awareness of how gender influenced the structure of board-level leadership positions when this topic was discussed. Although this study yielded interesting findings on women and educational leadership, this study does contain limitations.

Suggestions for Future Research

Future research is needed in this area of study, as educational environments remain gendered, racialized, class-based contexts. This was most apparent when the implicit findings of this study highlighted the lack of diversity within this particular school board's educational leadership representation. The following recommendations emerge from the findings and the limitations of this study:

- Future research that incorporates the perspectives of both men and women would be insightful. The inclusion of men in future research on the topic of educational leadership would foster a broader perspective to compare and contrast the experiences of female educational administrators and facilitate a deeper understanding of the relationship between gender and educational leadership and how these are constituted within relations of power.
- Future research studies on the experiences of current and aspiring female educational administrators would also benefit by gaining insights from women that are marginalized more in society than white women (i.e., racial and ethnic

minority women). Future studies that address other areas of diversity such as culture, race and ethnicity, or sexual orientation would strengthen the potential abilities of research and theory.

- 3. Exploring the experiences of retired female educational administrators would also be a useful comparison, to explore how gendered experiences are made and unmade within specific historical contexts.
- 4. Finally, this study could also include women from other school boards across geographical regions in order to include a greater representation of ethnically and racially diverse women, to help gain a much broader and more complex perspective.

Recommendations for Future Practice and Policy

Despite its limitations, this study also makes distinct contributions. First, this study incorporates the voices of females who are aspiring to be an educational administrator. Although a vast majority of the current literature presents the experiences of women while in educational leadership positions, this study also includes the experiences prior to the commencement of an educational leadership position. This study also conveys the experiences candidates encounter while in their respective school board's leadership mentoring program. The experiences expressed by most of the aspiring female educational administrators with the level of preparation they have received can be insightful to system leaders. These insights into mentoring can provide some awareness for future programs to ensure the needs of all aspiring leaders are met and produce the very best school and system leadership, while also addressing issues of gender equity. Based primarily on the Conference

Board of Canada's 2011 Report, *Women in Senior Management: Where are They?* examples of the ways in which school boards or others can address issues of gender equity include the following:

- Ensure Ongoing Measurement. Implementing gender diversity indicators to measure, identify, and monitor current gaps. Doing so will create transparency in organizations, identify the level of women in the "pipeline" (i.e., vice-principals, principals) eligible for promotion, and help school boards define and shape their priorities and programs (McKinsey, 2008)
- Create an Inclusive Work Environment through Awareness Training.
 Schools boards can develop and plan workshops that address the macro and micro-level policy implications that can educate students, teachers and administrators to become aware of their biases and gender role assumptions, as these often shape future views and decision-making by stakeholders.
 Keeping gender equity at the forefront by organizing internal and external initiatives can sustain and maintain awareness (Olgiati & Shapiro, 2002).
- Set Up Mentoring and Coaching Programs. Establishing coaching, mentoring, and networking programs that are geared towards women's unique needs not only give women opportunities to broaden their professional exposure, but can also raise the profile of female leaders in school boards. In addition to these strategies offered by the Conference Board of Canada's 2011 Report, other strategies that may be used to address issues of gender equity include:
- Ensure Sustainable Flexibility. Flexibility that is capable of harmonizing the

potentially conflicting needs of work and family without exacerbating segregation or marginalization, may encourage more women to apply to leadership positions.

• Conduct Gender-Based Analysis and Research Initiatives. Conducting gender-based analysis and research brings issues of gender equity to the forefront and can provide insight on the respective school board's level of gender equity.

These strategies can be useful in addressing gender equality and assist school boards in developing representations that reflects the composition of those that are qualified to assume leadership positions. In addition to policy implications, this research also provides other contributions to the field women and educational leadership.

This study also highlights the relations between women and can be used as an opportunity to reflect critically on their experiences and experiences of others to promote a positive working environment. Each of these contributions comprises the greatest contribution of this study, which is giving voice to those who participated. By giving voice to the women, this study achieved one of the primary goals of feminist research, which is to "ask new questions that place women's lives at the center of social inquiry" (Hesse-Biber, 2007, p.3).

Conclusion

Throughout the process of researching and writing this thesis, my perspectives on women and leadership have undergone a transformation. I have gained many new insights and resourceful knowledge on the organizational, personal, and societal experiences and challenges women have experienced while attempting to become and being and educational administrator. As an educator who is passionate about gender equity and social justice, I still feel as though there are many steps that must be taken to reach the point of equal opportunity. While I certainly acknowledge the positive gains women have made in the realm of educational leadership, this study has uprooted many experiences that were at times, inconsistent with the facts and figures presented in mass media and other statistical sources.

Prior to venturing into the research process on this topic, I often asked myself whether we as women, "were there yet?" in terms of educational leadership. An exploration into the data on females who hold qualifications to be in these positions and the increasing presence of women in elementary school leadership and secondary school leadership (in some cases) lead me to believe that perhaps we are well on our way. While speaking to the women who so graciously gave their time and offered to share their experiences with me, I realized that there are still many obstacles that women must overcome while aspiring to be, or while being, an educational administrator, all influenced in part by gender, among other factors. The findings from this study have urged me to continue exploring the topic of women and educational leadership, and in the process of doing so, I will continue to ask others, and myself "are we there yet?"

REFERENCES

Åkerlind, G. (2005): Variation and commonality in phenomenographic research methods. *Higher Education Research & Development*, *24*, (4): 321-334.

Adams, K. L. & Hambright, W.G. (2004). Encouraged or discouraged: Women teacher leaders becoming principals. *The Clearing House*, 77(5), 2009-2011.

Blackmore, J. (2006). Social justice and the study and practice of leadership in education: A feminist history. *Journal of Educational Administration and History*, 38(2). 185-200.

- Bowden, J. (2005). Reflections on the phenomenographic research process. In *Doing developmental phenomenography*, J. Bowden & P. Green (Eds.) (p. 68-82).
 Melbourne, Victoria: RMIT University Press.
- Brooks, A. & Hesse-Biber, S. (2007). An invitation to feminist research. In *Feminist research practice*, S. Hesse-Biber & P. Leavy (p. 1-27). USA: Sage Publications, Inc.
- Brown, T. (2005). Mentorship and the female college president. *Sex Roles, 52* (9/10), 659-666. doi: 10.1007/s11199-005-3733-7.
- Bryant, C. (2004) Women in the superintendency in Manitoba. *MASS Journal, 4*(1), 32-33.
- Burger, C., Abbott, G., Tobias, S., Koch, J., Vogt, C., & Sosa, T. (2007). Gender equity in science, engineering, and technology. In *Handbook for achieving gender equality through education*, S. Klein (ed.), (p. 255-279). Mahwah, NJ: Erlbaum.

- Burns, G. & Martin, B. (2010). Examination of the effectiveness of male and female educational leaders who made use of the invitational leadership style of leadership. *Journal of Invitational Theory and Practice*, 16, 29-55.
- Bush, T. (2003). *Theories of educational leadership and management* (3rd ed.).London: Sage Publications.
- Butler, J. (1990). *Gender trouble: Feminism and the subversion of identity*. New York, Routledge.

Catalyst & The Conference Board. (2002). *Women in leadership: A European business imperative*. New York: Author.

Catalyst. (2006). *Different Cultures, Similar Perceptions: Stereotyping of Western European Business Leaders*. Retrieved on March 5, 2011, from http://www.catalyst.org/file/42/ different%20cultures,%20similar %20perceptions%20stereotyping%20of%20western%20european%20busines s%20leaders.pdf

Catalyst. (2007). *The Double Bind Dilemma for Women in Leadership: Damned if You Do, Doomed if You Don't*. Retrieved on April 3, 2011, from http://www.catalyst.org/file/45/ the%20double bind%20dilemma% 20for%20women %20in%20leadership%20damned %20if%20you%20do,%20doomed%20if%20you%20don't.pdf.

- Catalyst. (2007). 2006 census of corporate officers and top earners. New York: Author.
- Catalyst. (2008). Women "Take Care," Men "Take Charge:" Stereotyping of U.S. Business Leaders Exposed. Retrieved on April 12, from http://www.catalyst.org/file/53/women%20take%20care,%20men%20take%2

0charge%20stereotyping%20of%20u.s.%20business%20leaders%20exposed. pdf.

- Catalyst. (2009). Catalyst Census of Women Board Directors of the Fortune 500. Retrieved on March 5, 2011, from http://www.catalyst.org/file/242/08 census wbd jan.pdf
- Chenier, L. & Wohlbold, E. (2011, August). The Conference Board of Canada. *Women in senior management: Where are they*? Retrieved September 14,
 2011, from http://www.conferenceboard.ca/e-library/abstract.aspx?did=4416.
- Cheung, F. & Halpern, D. (2010). Women at the top: Powerful leaders define success as work + family in a culture of gender. *American Psychologist*, 65(3), 182-193.
- Cleveland, J.N., Stockdale, M., & Murphy, K.R. (2000). *Women and Men in Organizations: Sex and Gender Issues at Work*. Lawrence Erlbaum and Associates.
- CNN.com (2007, July 24). *The jacket debate*. Message posted to http://politicalticker.blogs.cnn.com/2007/07/23/the-jacket-debate/.
- Collins, P.H. (2000). *Black feminist thought: Knowledge, consciousness and the politics of empowerment.* (2nd Ed.). New York: Routledge.
- Commission for Labor Cooperation (2012). *Guide to employment discrimination laws in Canada*. Retrieved May 21, 2012, from http://www.naalc.org.

Connell, R. W. (1995). *Masculinities*. Berkeley, University of California Press.

Coulter, R.P. and Greig, C.J. (2008). The Man Question in Teaching: An Historical Over-view. *Alberta Journal of Educational Research*, *54*, (4), 420-431.

- Da Costa Barreto, M., Barreto, M., Ryan, M., & Schmitt, M. (2009). The glass ceiling in the 21st century: Understanding barriers to gender equality. CA: American Psychological Association.
- Dana, J. & Bourisaw, D. (2006). *Women in the superintendency*. Toronto: Roman and Littlefield Education.
- Davies, P.G., Spencer, S.J., & Steele, C.M. (2005). Clearing the air: Identity safety moderates the effects of stereotype threat on women's leadership aspirations.
 Journal of Personality and Social Psychology, 88, 276-287.
- DeVault, M. & Gross, G. (2007). Feminist interviewing: Experience, talk, and knowledge. In *Handbook of feminist research: Theory and praxis*, S. Hesse-Biber (Ed.). (p. 173-198). USA: Sage
- Drolet, M. (2003). Motherhood and pay cheques. *Canadian Social Trends*. No. 68. Spring. Statistics Canada Catalogue no. 11-008-X. p. 19-21. Retrieved September 5, 2011, from http://www.statcan.gc.ca/pub/11-008x/2002004/article/6498-eng.pdf
- Duehr, E. & Bono, J. (2006). Men, women and mangers: Are the stereotypes finally changing? *Personnel Psychology*, 59 (4), 815-846. doi 10.1147/107145190501100401.
- Eagly, A. (2007). Female leadership advantage and disadvantage: Resolving the contradictions. *Psychology of Women Quarterly, 31,* 1-12. Retrieved May 11, 2011, from http://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1111/j.1471-6402.2007. 00326.x/abstract.

- Eby, L. & Lockwood, A. (2005). Protégés and mentors' reactions to participating in formal mentoring programs. A qualitative investigation. *Journal of Vocational Behaviour, 67,* 441-458.
- Eckman, E.W. (2004). Similarities and differences in role conflict, role commitment, and job satisfaction for female and male high school principals. *Educational Administration Quarterly*, 40(3), 366-387. doi: 10.1177/0013161X03257835.
- Eddy, P. L. and Cox, E. M. (2008). Gendered leadership: An organizational perspective. *New Directions for Community Colleges*, 69–79.
 doi: 10.1002/cc.326
- Fitzgerald, T. (2006). Walking between two worlds. *Educational Management Administration & Leadership*, 34(2), 201-213. doi: 10.1177/1741143206062494.
- Ford, M.T., Heinen, B.A., & Langkamer, K.L. (2007). Work and family satisfaction and conflict: A meta-analysis of cross-domain relations. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 92, 57-80. doi: 10.1037/00219010.92.1.57.
- Freire, P. (2000). Pedagogy of the oppressed (M. Bergman Ramos, Trans.). New York: Continuum International Publishing Group. (Original work published in 1970).

^{Galinsky, E & Swanberg, J. E. (2000). Employed mothers and fathers in the United States: Understanding how work and family life fit together. In L. L. Haas, P. Hwang, & G. Russell (Eds.),} *Organizational change and gender equity: International perspectives on fathers and mothers at the workplace* (pp. 15-28), Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications, Inc.

- Gardiner, M. E., Enomoto, E., & Grogan M. (2000). Coloring outside the lines: Mentoring women into school leadership. New York: State University of New York Press.
- Gleason, M., Myers, T. & Perry, A. (2011). Rethinking Canada: The promise of women's history. Don Mills, ON: Oxford University Press.
- Grant-Vallone, E. & Ensher, E. (2010). Opting in between: Strategies used by professional women with children to balance work and family. *Journal of Career Development, 38*(4), 331-348. doi: 10.1177/0894845310372219.
- Growe, R., & Montgomery, P. (1999). Women and the leadership paradigm: Bridging the gender gap. *National Forum of Education Administration and Supervision Journal*, 1(E). Retrieved from http://www.nationalforum.com/pdf.
- Grewal, S. (2011, July 1). Women claims discrimination prevented her from becoming school principal. *The Toronto Star*. Retrieved July 2, 2011, from http://www.thestar.com/ news/article/1014142--peel-board-fights-to-keepsystemic-charge-out-of-discrimination-case.
- Hancock, D.R. & Algozzine, B. (2006). *Doing case study research*. New York: Teachers College Press.
- Harding, S. (1991). Whose science? Whose knowledge? Thinking from womens' lives.Ithica: Cornell University Press.
- Harding, S. (Ed.). (2004). *The Feminist Standpoint Theory Reader*. New York and London: Routledge.

- Hasse, M. (2008). 'I don't do the mentoring role that lots of female teachers do: Male teachers, gender, power and social organization. *British Journal of Sociology* of Education, 29 (6), 597-608. doi: 10.1080/01425690802423270.
- Hesse-Biber, S. (2007). *Handbook of feminist research: Theory and praxis*. USA: Sage Publications, Inc.
- Hesse-Biber, S. (2007). The practice of feminist in-depth interviewing. In *Handbook* of feminist research: Theory and praxis, S. Hesse-Biber (Ed.). (p. 111-149).USA: Sage Publications, Inc.
- Hesse-Biber, S. (2007). Dialoguing about future directions in feminist theory,
 research, and pedagogy. In *Handbook of feminist research: Theory and praxis*,
 S. Hesse-Biber (Ed.). (p. 535-547). USA: Sage Publications, Inc.
- Hesse-Biber, S. & Brooks, A. (2007) Core feminist insights and strategies on authority, representations, truths, reflexivity, and ethics across the research process. In *Handbook of feminist research: Theory and praxis,* S. Hesse-Biber (Ed.). (p. 419-424).
- Hesse-Biber, S. & Leavy, P. (2007). *Feminist research practice*. USA: Sage Publications, Inc.
- Hesse-Biber, S. & Piatelli, D. (2007). Holistic reflexivity: The feminist practice of reflexivity. In *Handbook of feminist research: Theory and praxis*, S. Hesse-Biber (Ed.). (p. 493-515). USA: Sage Publications, Inc.
- Hesse-Biber, S. & Piatelli, D. (2007). From theory to method and back again: The synergistic praxis of theory and method. In *Handbook of feminist research:*

Theory and praxis. S. Hesse-Biber (Ed.). (p. 143-154). USA: Sage Publications, Inc.

- Hoyt, C. (2005). The role of leadership efficacy and stereotype activation in women's identification with leadership. *Journal of Leadership & Organizational Studies, 11* (4), 1-14. doi: 10.1177/107179190501100401.
- Hoyt, C. (2006). *Women and leadership*. In P. Northouse's *Leadership*: Theory and practice, 4th edition (pp. 265-299). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage
- Human Resources and Skills Development Canada (2011, April). Indicators of wellbeing in Canada. *Learning-Educational Attainment*. Retrieved April 14, 2011, from http://www4.hrsdc.gc.ca/.3ndic.1t.4r@-eng.jsp?iid=29
- Jean-Marie, G., Williams, V. & Sherman, S.L. (2009). Black women's leadership experiences: Examining the intersectionality of race and gender. *Advances in Developing Human Resources*, 11 (5), 562-581. doi: 10.1177/1523422309351836.
- Jones, S. & Palmer, E. (2011). Glass ceilings and catfights: Career barriers for professional women in academia. *Advancing Women in Leadership*, 31, 189-198.
- Litwin, A. Women working together: Understanding women's relationships at work. *CGO Insights*, Briefing Note Number 33, March 2011 (article)
- Lodico, M., Spaulding, D. & Voegtle, K. (2006). *Methods in educational research: From theory to practice*. San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass.
- Lu, Y. & Morissette, R. (2010). Women's participation and economic downturns.*Perspectives*. May 2010. Statistics Canada Catalogue no. 75-001-X. p. 18-22.

Retrieved on September 5, 2011, from http://www.statcan.gc.ca/pub/75-001x/2010105/pdf/11160-eng.pdf.

- Lykke, N. (2010). Feminist studies: A guide to intersectionality theory methodology, and writing. Routledge.
- McIntosh, P. (1989). White privilege: Unpacking the invisible knapsack. *Peace and Freedom*, 10-12.
- McIntosh, P. (1992) White privilege and male privilege: a personal account of coming to see correspondences through work in women's studies, in: M. Andersen & P. Collins (Eds) *Race, class, and gender: an anthology* (Belmont, CA, Wadsworth Publishing Company).
- Maddison, S. (2007). Feminist perspectives on social movement research. In Handbook of feminist research: Theory and praxis, S. Hesse-Biber (Ed.). (p. 391-409).
- Manfredi, C. (2004). *Feminist activism in the supreme court: Legal mobilization and the women's legal education action fund.* Vancouver: UBC Press.
- Martin, Patricia Yancey. 2001. Mobilizing masculinities: Women's experiences of men at work. *Organization*, *8*, 587–618.
- Martino, W. J. (2008). Male teachers as role models: Addressing issues of masculinity, pedagogy and the re-masculinization of schooling. *Curriculum Inquiry*, 38 (2), 190-219. doi: 10.1111/j.1467-873X.2007.00405.x.
- Mendez-Morse, S. (2004). Constructing mentors: Latina educational leaders' role models and mentors. *Educational Administration Quarterly*, 40(4), 561-590.

- Mogadime, D. (2008). Racial differential experiences of employment equity for women teachers. *Journal of Black Studies*, *39*(1), 85-108. doi: 10.1177/0021934706296682.
- Nidiffer, J. & Bashaw, C. (Eds.). (2001). *Women administrators in higher education*. New York: State University of New York.

Ontario College of Teachers. (2011). *Principal's Qualification Program*. Retrieved March 1, 2012, from http://www.oct.ca/additional_qualifications/ principals_qualification/

- Ontario College of Teachers. (2010). *Qualifications of college members*. Retrieved September 15, 2011, from http://www.oct.ca/annual_report/2010/en/stats_qualifications.html.
- Ontario College of Teachers. (2008). *Qualifications of college members*. Retrieved April 2, 2011, from

http://www.oct.ca/annual_report/2008/en/stats_qualifications.html.

- Ontario Human Rights Commission (2008). *Policy on discrimination because of pregnancy or breastfeeding*. Retrieved May 21, 2012, from http://www.ohrc.on.ca/en/policy-discrimination-because-pregnancy-and-breastfeeding
- Ontario Ministry of Education. (2012). *Leadership development: Ontario leadership strategy*. Retrieved April 3, 2012, from http://www.edu.gov.on.ca/eng/policy funding/leadership/actionPlan.html.
- Ontario Ministry of Education. (2012). *Leadership development: Mentoring*. Retrieved April 3, 2012, from

http://www.edu.gov.on.ca/eng/policyfunding/leadership /mentoring.html.

Ontario Ministry of Education. (2012). *Leadership development: Ontario's leadership framework*. Retrieved April 3, 2012, from http://www.edu.gov.on.ca/eng/policy funding/leadership/framework.html.

- Ontario Ministry of Education. (1994-2010). *Quick facts: Ontario schools*. Toronto: Retrieved March 5, 2011, from http://www.edu.gov.on.ca/eng/general/elemsec/ quick facts/2002-03/quickFacts02-03.pdf.
- Oplatka, I. & Hertz-Lazarowitz, R. (2006). Women leadership in education: a review of the knowledge base. In Oplatka, I. & Hertz-Lazarowitz, R. (Eds.)
 (2006). Women principals in a multicultural society: New insights into feminist educational leadership. The Netherlands: Sense Publishers, (17-32).
- Paludi, M. (2008). The psychology of women at work: Challenges and solutions for our female workforce (2nd ed.). USA: Praeger Publishers.
- Peters, A. (2010). Elements of successful mentoring of a female school leader. *Leadership and Policy in Schools, 9*, 108-129. doi: 10.1080/15700760903026755.
- Pichler, S., Simpson, P. & Stroh, L. (2008). The glass ceiling in human resources: Exploring the link between women's representation in management and the practices of strategic human resources management and employee involvement. *Human Resources Management*, 47 (3), 436-479.
- Pirouznia, M. (2011). Fewer women than men in educational leadership. *Academic Leadership: The Online Journal*, 7(3).
- Powell, G. & Graves, L. (2003). *Women and men in management* (3rd ed.). USA: Sage Publications, Inc.

- Prime, J., Carter, N., & Welbourne, T. (2009). Women "take care," men "take charge" managers' stereotypic perceptions of women and men leaders. *The Psychologist-Manager Journal*, *12*, 25-49. doi:10.1080/10887150802371799.
- Rebick, J. (2005). *Ten thousand roses: The making of a feminist revolution*. Toronto: Penguin Press.

Reskin, B.F. (2002) Women and men at work. USA: Sage Publication, Inc.

- Reynolds, C., White, R. Brayman, C., & Moore, S. (2008). Women and secondary school principal rotation/succession: A study of the beliefs of decision makers in four provinces. *Canadian Journal of Education*, 31(1), 32-54.
- Robinson, V. M., Hohepa, M., & Lloyd, C. (2009). School leadership and student outcomes: Identifying what works and why. Best evidence synthesis iteration (BES). Wellington: Ministry of Education.
- Rudman, L. & Phelan, J. (2010). The effect of priming gender roles on women's implicit gender beliefs and careers aspirations. *Social Psychology*, *41*(3), 192-202.
- Ryan, M. K., & Haslam, S. A. (2007). The glass cliff: Exploring the dynamics surrounding the appointment of women precarious leadership positions. *Academy of Management Review*, 32, 549–572.
- Sadker, D., Sadker, M., Zittleman, K.R. (2009). Still failing at fairness: How gender bias cheats girls and boys in school and what we can do about it. New York: Scribner.
- Sandberg, J. (2005). How do we justify knowledge within interpretive approaches? *Organizational Research Methods*, *8(1)*, 41-68.

- Scandura, T., & Williams, E. (2001). An investigation of the moderating effects of gender on the relationships between mentorship and protégé perceptions of mentoring functions. *Journal of Vocational Behavior*, 59, 342-363.
- Skelton, C. (2010). Gender and achievement: are girls the success stories of restructured education systems? *Educational Review*, 62(2), 131-142. doi: 10.1080/0013191 0903469536
- Sczesny, S. (2003). A closer look beneath the surface: Various facets of the thinkmanager-think-male stereotype. *Sex Roles, 49,* 353-363. doi:

10.1023/A:1025112204526.

- Shakeshaft, C. (1987). Women in educational administration. Newbury Park: Sage.
- Shakeshaft, C. (1989). Women in educational administration. Newbury Park: Sage.
- Shaughnessy, J., Zechmeister, E. & Zechmeister, J. (2009). *Research methods in psychology* (8th ed.). New York: McGraw Hill.
- Searby, L. & Tripses, J. (2006). Breaking perceptions of "old boys' networks":
 Women leaders learning to make the most of mentoring relationships. *Journal* of Women in Educational Leadership, 4(3), 179-195.
- Smith, Dorothy. 1987. The everyday world as problematic: A feminist sociology. Milton Keynes, England: Open University Press.
- Smith, D. (1990). *Texts, facts, and femininity: Exploring the relations of ruling*. New York: Routledge.
- Smith, D. (1990). The conceptual practices of power: A feminist sociology of knowledge. Boston: Northeastern University Press.
- Smith, D. 2005. Institutional ethnography: A sociology for people. Walnut Creek,

CA: Alta Mira Press.

- Statistics Canada. (2010). Women in non-traditional occupations and fields of study (Report No. 81-004-XVol. 7 no. 1). Retrieved April 2, 2011, from http://www.statcan.gc.ca/pub/81-004-x/2010001/article/11151-eng.htm.
- Sprague, J. & Zimmerman, M. (1993). Overcoming dualisms: A feminist agenda for sociological methodology. In Paula England (Ed.), *Theory on gender/feminism* on theory (pp. 255–280). New York: Aldine de Gruyter.
- Statistics Canada. (2008). A profile of elementary and secondary school principals in Canada: First results from the 2004-2005 survey of principals. Retrieved April 2, 2011, from http://www.statcan.gc.ca/pub/81-004-x/2006002/9249eng.htm.
- Statistics Canada. (2006). *Women in Canada*. Retrieved March 22, 2011, from http://www.statcan.gc.ca/daily-quotidien/060307/dq060307a-eng.htm.
- Statistics Canada. (2001). Demography and the labour market. *Perspectives on Labour and Income: The Online Edition*. Retrieved September 17, 2011, from http://www.statcan.gc.ca/pub/75-001-x/00201/5600-eng.html.

Timberlake, S. (2005). Social capital and gender in the workplace. *Journal of Management Development, 24* (1), 34-44. doi:

10.1108/026217106510572336.

- Travers, M. (2002). *Introducing qualitative methods: Qualitative research through case studies*. USA: Sage Publications, Inc.
- United Nations Women: United Nations Entity for Gender Equality and the Empowerment of Women. (2011). *Gender Mainstreaming*. Retrieved April 13,

2011, from http://www.un.org/womenwatch/osagi/gendermainstreaming.htm.

- van Manen, M. (2011). A resource for phenomenologic inquiry. In *Phenomenology* Online. Retrieved September 1, 2011, from http://www.phenomenologyonline. com.
- Vinnicombe, S., Singh. V., Burke, R., Bilimoria, D. & Huse, M. (2008). Women on corporate boards of directors. United Kingdom: Edward Elgar Publishing Limited.
- Wallin, D. & Crippen, C. (2008). Mentorship and gendered assumptions: Examining the discourse of Manitoba superintendents. *EAF Journal*, 19 (3), 56-74.
- Weis, L. (1988). High school girls in a de-industrializing economy. In Lois Weis
 (Ed.), *Class, race & gender in American education* (pp. 183-208), New York:
 State University Press New York.
- Westmarland, N. (2001). Forum: Qualitative Social Research. The Quantitative/Qualitative Debate and Feminist Research: A Subjective View of Objectivity. Retrieved from http://www.qualitativeresearch.net/ index.php/fqs/article/view/974/2124#g4
- Yin, R. K. (2003). Case study research: Design and methods (3rd ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications, Inc.
- Young, I.M. (2011). *Responsibility for justice*. Don Mills, ON: Oxford University Press.

APPENDICES

Appendix A: Summary of Ontario College of Teachers' Principal Qualification Program

Ontario College of Teachers' members earn principal qualifications by taking the PQP, Parts I and II. The PQP is "designed to educate future principals to lead and manage efficiently in contexts characterized by change and complexity" (OCT, 2011). The PQP is also designed to "support candidates in becoming reflective educational leaders who function effectively in dynamic, diverse contexts characterized by rapidly changing events and circumstances" reflected in the *Ethical Standards for the Teaching Profession* and *Standards of Practice for the Teaching Profession* (OCT, 2011). Additionally, the PQP "provides a foundation for candidates for assuming the role of principal or vice-principal in Ontario schools" (OCT, 2011).

The PQP consists of two parts and is open to teachers with five years teaching experience, qualifications in three divisions including Intermediate and a master's degree or two specialists or one specialist and half a master's degree. Part I concentrates on an introduction to the program, course work, and the formation of the practicum proposal. Part II includes of an exploration into theoretical and operational aspects of the principalship, with a focus on concepts and issues related to leadership and program planning (OCT, 2011). The content of the PQP is organized into five domains as reflected in the Leadership Framework for Principals and Vice-Principals found in *Putting Ontario's Leadership Framework Into Action/Mise en application du cadre de leadership de l'Ontario* and include: Setting Directions, Building Relationships and Developing People, Developing the Organization, Leading the

Instructional Program, and Securing Accountability. In order to successfully obtain full accreditation in the PQP, candidates must complete a Leadership Practicum experience before being recommended for Part II of the program (OCT, 2011).

The Leadership Practicum is intended to "provide an opportunity for candidates

to act as a member of a school administrative team in a leadership role working with students, staff, parents and the community" (OCT, 2011). Before commencing their Leadership Practicum, candidates must develop a Leadership Practicum proposal. Candidates are responsible for seeking their own setting (the practicum must apply to a school setting) and ensure a practicing qualified principal or vice-principal mentors them. The duration of the practicum must total a minimum requirement of 60 hours, 20 of which can be observation (OCT, 2011). In this study, the experiences acquired through both formal and informal mentoring opportunities are explored.

Appendix B: Summary of the Ontario Ministry of Education's Board Leadership Developmental Strategy for Current Educational Administrators

According to the Ontario Ministry of Education, newly appointed principals and vice-principals receive mentoring support in their first and second years of practice. Experienced principals and vice-principals also receive support and resources to prepare them to become effective mentors and continue developing their own leadership skills. Since 2008, the government has invested \$9.7 million to support mentoring across the province of Ontario. Support will continue in 2011-12 as part of Board Leadership Development Strategy (BLDS) funding (Ontario Ministry of Education, 2012). To foster strong leadership, the government launched the Ontario Leadership Strategy (OLS). The OLS is "a comprehensive plan of action aimed at attracting and developing skilled and passionate school and system leaders" (Ontario Leadership Strategy, 2011, p. 6). The strategy promotes "a collaborative approach through which schools, districts, education partners, and the ministry work in partnership to support student achievement and well-being" (Ontario Leadership Strategy, 2011, p. 6-7). Utilized within this program are resources embedded in the Ontario Leadership Framework, which identifies five Core Leadership Capabilities.

The Ontario Leadership Framework (OLF) remains the key foundation of initiatives being undertaken within the OLS. The OLF includes a leadership framework of practices and competencies for individuals (i.e., supervisory officers, principals and vice-principals) and system practices and procedures for districts. The five Core Leadership Capabilities include: setting goals, aligning resources with priorities, promoting collaborative learning cultures, using data, and engaging in

courageous conversations.

In addition to the mentoring opportunities funded by the Ontario Ministry of Education, mentoring for newly appointed system leaders (i.e., superintendents and directors) was implemented province-wide in 2009-10 following a field test in 2008-09. System leaders in their first and second year receive mentoring from their director and supervisory officer associations in partnership with school boards. The ministry has currently continued to provide funding to the associations to implement mentoring based on requirements set out in the Mentoring for Newly Appointed System Leaders Guideline (forthcoming) (Ontario Ministry of Education, 2012). Resources made available to both school and system leaders include: Supporting *Effective School Leadership: A Handbook for Implementing Mentoring for Newly* Appointed School Leaders in Ontario, as a companion to the School Board Guideline for Implementation of Mentoring for Newly Appointed School Leaders (2010). This mentoring handbook was written by a development writing team representing the Association des directions et directions adjointes des écoles franco-ontariennes (ADFO), the Catholic Principals' Council of Ontario (CPCO), and the Ontario Principals' Council (OPC), in partnership with the Ministry of Education (Ontario Ministry of Education, 2012). Other resources made available on the Ministry's website for school and system leaders include a variety of handbooks, tools, templates, conversation starters for mentors and protégés, links to other association websites, and webcasts (Ontario Ministry of Education, 2012).

132

Appendix C: Summary of Participants' Respective School Board Mentoring Program for Aspiring Educational Administrators

Both the current and aspiring educational administrators in this study were either a part of or had completed the mentoring program initiated by their school board. All but one current female educational administrator (i.e., Andrea) within this study had completed their school board's mentoring program initiated in partnership with the Ontario Ministry of Education. All aspiring female educational administrators were either in their first or second year of the leadership program offered by their school board. Although current educational administrators complete a program in partnership with the Ontario Ministry of Education's guidelines, the leadership program is not guided or funded by the Ontario Ministry of Education. This section will explore the objectives, goals, and components of this particular school board's leadership program.

Aspiring educational administrators interested in pursuing a school leadership position are provided with the option of participating in this particular school board's leadership program. In addition to having an interest in pursuing an educational leadership position, interested educators must complete a leadership course application, obtain a principal recommendation, have 5 years of teaching experience, and pay a fee of \$125.00. The goals of this school board's leadership program include: identification and recognition of future leaders in the system, networking, system knowledge of strategic plans, and leadership development. This two-year program involves two distinct phases that include a personal growth phase (year one) and a professional growth phase (year two).

133

During the personal growth phase, candidates are asked to read a book pertaining to leadership and share information obtained from this book at a subsequent session. The personal growth phase also includes a shadowing component. Candidates are required to shadow an administrator, consultant, or department head for one half day. Candidates are asked to record their experiences and hand their notes into the team leader. Upon completion of the showing component, candidates are asked to share the highlights of their experience and submit a 1-2 page reflection of their shadowing experience.

Upon completion of the personal growth phase requirements, candidates are then required to complete the professional growth phase. During the professional growth phase, candidates are asked to attend a board meeting and submit a one-page reflection of the meeting. Candidates are also required to complete a leadership practicum during the professional growth phase that is intended to accomplish the following objectives: provide an opportunity to directly apply the knowledge and skills developed during the program, develop teamwork skills through a group learning experiences, and link candidates to the board and or community. This final practicum has the following characteristics and requires candidates to: (1) initiate, develop, and implement a program designed to each a large number of staff and students at the board or school level; (2) be time-limited (i.e., completed by the end of the program); (3) facilitate the development of strong leadership skills; (4) provide an opportunity for clarity; and (5) challenge leadership candidates. Upon development of such program, candidates must complete a summary of their program and develop a presentation on the outcomes of their practicum.

134

Appendix D: Letter of Information to Participate in Research



LETTER OF INFORMATION FOR CONSENT TO PARTICIPATE IN RESEARCH

Title of Study: Women & Educational Leadership: Exploring the Experiences of Current and Aspiring Female Educational Administrators

You are asked to participate in a research study conducted by Kimberly Crosby-Hillier, a graduate student from the Faculty of Education at the University of Windsor. The results of this study will contribute to the completion of the researcher's thesis. If you have any questions or concerns about the research, please do not hesitate to contact Kimberly Crosby-Hillier (crosby4@uwindsor.ca; 519-981-6924) or Dr. Christopher Greig (cgreig@uwindsor.ca; 519-253-3000 ext. 3819).

PURPOSE OF THE STUDY

The purpose of this study is to explore the relationship between gender and educational leadership. More specifically, the researcher will explore the experiences of three populations of female educators/administrators: (1) female educators, who have expressed a desire to pursue an educational leadership position. Demonstration of their desire to pursue an educational leadership position will be determined by their preparation for applying to a posted position (i.e., additional qualifications, postgraduate education); (2) female educators, who have at one point in their career, attempted to obtain a leadership position, but did not receive the position; (3) female administrators, who have successfully obtained a leadership position (e.g., viceprincipal; principal; superintendent). This study is being conducted in order to explore and understand the various experiences females encounter while preparing to secure a leadership position and while maintaining their current leadership position. Doing so will allow the principal investigator, participants, and all members of society to gain a deeper understanding of the relationship between gender and leadership as well as the ways in which females of the school board have been given opportunities to succeed in a leadership position.

PROCEDURES

If you volunteer to participate in this study, we would ask you to do the following things:

1. You will participate in a face-to-face individual interview and complete a brief survey. The interview will last approximately 1 hour. The interviewer will ask openended questions. The interview will focus on your experiences while attempting to become an educational administrator or your experiences with being a current educational administrator. The interview will be audio taped. The survey will take approximately 15-20 minutes of your time and can be completed at the time of your interview.

2. Once all of the interviews have been transcribed, you will receive a copy of the transcription to review for accuracy.

POTENTIAL RISKS AND DISCOMFORTS

While there are no significant physical or psychological/emotional risks to you, it is possible that you may feel uncomfortable discussing your personal experiences as a current/prospective educational administrator with a fellow employee of your school board. Please note that all information during the interview, and all information contained in the survey will be kept confidential. Should you feel any psychological or emotional discomfort during the interview or survey, you may stop the interview or survey.

POTENTIAL BENEFITS TO SUBJECTS AND/OR TO SOCIETY

By providing an opportunity to discuss your experiences with educational leadership, this study will allow you to critically reflect on the current status of women and educational leadership. By engaging in critical dialogue about your experiences, this research will assist in developing a greater understanding about the social structures that oppress some members of society, while advantaging others. By gathering detailed information about your experiences, this research may also assist other administrators within the school board to continue to develop strategies that ensure your professional needs are being met (e.g., access to resources, mentorship).

PAYMENT FOR PARTICIPATION

In appreciation of your participation, a \$15 gift card to Scholar's Choice will be given.

CONFIDENTIALITY

Any information that is obtained in connection with this study that can be identified with you will remain confidential and will be disclosed only with your permission. Several steps will be taken to ensure your confidentiality. While the interviews will be audio-recorded, first names will only be used during the interviews. The interview tapes will be held under lock and key in the principal investigator's home and will remain there for the duration of the data collection and once the study has been completed. The transcripts from the interviews will remain confidential and will contain a pseudonym in place of your name. Your school board and school to which you are affiliated with will also be kept confidential and will not be mentioned within any part of the researcher's thesis. Only the principal researcher and the faculty thesis advisor will have access to the information contained within the audio-tapes and transcripts. The principal researcher maintains the right to review all audiotapes and

transcripts with the faculty advisor, throughout the duration of the study. All audio taped recordings will be kept under lock and key in the principal investigator's home, should the information be used for subsequent studies.

PARTICIPATION AND WITHDRAWAL

It is entirely optional and voluntary to participate in this research study. If you volunteer to be in this study, you may withdraw at any time without consequences of any kind. You may also refuse to answer any questions you do not feel comfortable answering and still remain in the study. Should you choose to withdraw yourself from this study, the information you provided regarding your current or prospective administrative position will not be used in the researcher's thesis. All participants will still receive their compensation in appreciation of your time. The researcher may withdraw you from this research if circumstances arise which warrant doing so.

FEEDBACK OF THE RESULTS OF THIS STUDY TO THE SUBJECTS

The results of this study will be made available to all participants. A brief readerfriendly summary of the initial findings will be available at the following website after April, 2012:

Web address: www.uwindsor.ca/reb

The researcher will also send via email a brief reader-friendly summary report of the initial findings that details the results of the collection and analysis of data. This report will be made available to you by the end of April, 2012.

SUBSEQUENT USE OF DATA

This data may be used in subsequent studies.

RIGHTS OF RESEARCH SUBJECTS

You may withdraw your consent at any time and discontinue participation without penalty. If you have questions regarding your rights as a research subject, contact: Research Ethics Coordinator, University of Windsor, Windsor, Ontario N9B 3P4; Telephone: 519-253-3000, ext. 3948; e-mail: ethics@uwindsor.ca

SIGNATURE OF INVESTIGATOR

These are the terms under which I will conduct research.

Signature of Investigator

Date

Appendix E: Consent to Participate in Research



CONSENT TO PARTICIPATE IN RESEARCH

Title of Study: Women & Educational Leadership: Exploring the Experiences of Current and Aspiring Female Educational Administrators

You are asked to participate in a research study conducted by Kimberly Crosby-Hillier, a graduate student from the Faculty of Education at the University of Windsor. The results of this study will contribute to the completion of the researcher's thesis. If you have any questions or concerns about the research, please do not hesitate to contact Kimberly Crosby-Hillier (crosby4@uwindsor.ca; 519-981-6924) or Dr. Christopher Greig (cgreig@uwindsor.ca; 519-253-3000 ext. 3819).

PURPOSE OF THE STUDY

The purpose of this study is to explore the relationship between gender and educational leadership. More specifically, the researcher will explore the experiences of three populations of female educators/administrators: (1) female educators, who have expressed a desire to pursue an educational leadership position. Demonstration of their desire to pursue an educational leadership position will be determined by their preparation for applying to a posted position (i.e., additional qualifications, postgraduate education); (2) female educators, who have at one point in their career, attempted to obtain a leadership position, but did not receive the position; (3) female administrators, who have successfully obtained a leadership position (e.g., viceprincipal; principal; superintendent). This study is being conducted in order to explore and understand the various experiences females encounter while preparing to secure a leadership position and while maintaining their current leadership position. Doing so will allow the principal investigator, participants, and all members of society to gain a deeper understanding of the relationship between gender and leadership as well as the ways in which females of the school board have been given opportunities to succeed in a leadership position.

PROCEDURES

If you volunteer to participate in this study, you will be asked to:

1. You will participate in a face-to-face individual interview and complete a brief survey. The interview will last approximately 1 hour. The interviewer will ask openended questions. The interview will focus on your experiences while attempting to become an educational administrator or your experiences with being a current educational administrator. The interview will be audio taped. The survey will take approximately 15-20 minutes of your time and can be completed at the time of your interview. 2. Once all of the interviews have been transcribed, you will receive a copy of the transcription to review for accuracy.

POTENTIAL RISKS AND DISCOMFORTS

While there are no significant physical or psychological/emotional risks to you, it is possible that you may feel uncomfortable discussing your personal experiences as an educational administrator with a fellow employee of your school board. Please note that all information during the interview, and all information contained in the survey will be kept confidential. Should you feel any psychological or emotional discomfort during the interview, you may stop the interview or survey.

POTENTIAL BENEFITS TO SUBJECTS AND/OR TO SOCIETY

By providing an opportunity to discuss your experiences with educational leadership, this study will allow you to critically reflect on the current status of women and educational leadership. By engaging in critical dialogue about your experiences, this research will assist in developing a greater understanding about the social structures that oppress some members of society, while advantaging others. By gathering detailed information about your experiences, this research may also assist other administrators within the school board to continue to develop strategies that ensure your professional needs are being met (e.g., access to resources, mentorship).

COMPENSATION FOR PARTICIPATION

In appreciation of your participation, a \$15 gift card to Scholars Choice will be given.

CONFIDENTIALITY

Any information that is obtained in connection with this study that can be identified with you will remain confidential and will be disclosed only with your permission. Several steps will be taken to ensure your confidentiality. While the interviews will be audio-recorded, first names will only be used during the interviews. The interview tapes will be held under lock and key in the principal investigator's home and will remain there for the duration of the data collection and once the study has been completed. The transcripts from the interviews will remain confidential and will contain a pseudonym in place of your name. Your school board and school to which you are affiliated with will also be kept confidential and will not be mentioned within any part of the researcher's thesis. Only the principal researcher and the faculty thesis advisor will have access to the information contained within the audio-tapes and transcripts. The principal researcher maintains the right to review all audiotapes and transcripts with the faculty advisor, throughout the duration of the study. All audio taped recordings will be kept under lock and key in the principal investigator's home, should the information be used for subsequent studies.

PARTICIPATION AND WITHDRAWAL

It is entirely optional and voluntary to participate in this research study. If you volunteer to be in this study, you may withdraw at any time without consequences of any kind. You may also refuse to answer any questions you do not feel comfortable

answering and still remain in the study. Should you choose to withdraw yourself from this study, the information you provide regarding your current or prospective administrative position will not be used in the researcher's thesis. All participants will still receive their compensation in appreciation of your time. The researcher may withdraw you from this research if circumstances arise which warrant doing so.

FEEDBACK OF THE RESULTS OF THIS STUDY TO THE SUBJECTS

The results of this study will be made available to all participants. A brief readerfriendly summary of the initial findings will be available at the following website after April, 2012:

Web address: www.uwindsor.ca/reb

The researcher will also send via email a brief summary report of the initial findings that details the results of the collection and analysis of data. This report will be made available to you by the end of April, 2012.

SUBSEQUENT USE OF DATA

This data may be used in subsequent studies.

RIGHTS OF RESEARCH SUBJECTS

If you have questions regarding your rights as a research subject, contact: Research Ethics Coordinator, University of Windsor, Windsor, Ontario, N9B 3P4; Telephone: 519-253-3000, ext. 3948; e-mail: ethics@uwindsor.ca

SIGNATURE OF RESEARCH SUBJECT/LEGAL REPRESENTATIVE

I understand the information provided for the study *Women & Educational Leadership: Exploring the Experiences of Current & Aspiring Female Educational Administrators* as described herein. My questions have been answered to my satisfaction, and I agree to participate in this study. I have been given a copy of this form.

Name of Subject

Signature of Subject

Date

SIGNATURE OF INVESTIGATOR

These are the terms under which I will conduct research.

Signature of Investigator

Date

Appendix F: Survey for Current Female Educational Administrators

Survey for Current Female Educational Administrators

Part I

Directions for Part I: Please answer the following questions. Doing so will allow the researcher to get to know you.

- 1. Please provide your birthdate: (month/year)
- 2. How many years did you teach, prior to apply applying for your first educational leadership position?

A) 5-7

- B) 8-10
- C) 10-12
- D) 12-15
- 3. In order to prepare yourself for applying to an educational leadership position, please select the most accurate description of your post-graduate education:

A) Master's Degree in Education

- B) 2 Specialists (Please Specify):
- C) Master's Degree in another field besides Education (Please Specify):
- D) Other (Please Specify):
- 4. Please provide the age at which you obtained your first educational leadership position:

- B) 2
- C) 3
- D) 4 or more

^{5.} How many attempts did it take to successfully obtain an educational leadership position?

A) 1

(Continue to next page please) Part II

Directions: Please evaluate the following statements and circle the number below the question, that you feel most accurately represents your experiences. Use the "1" to "5" scale below and circle each applicable number.

- 1. Strongly Disagree
- 2. Disagree
- 3. Neither Agree nor Disagree
- 4. Agree
- 5. Strongly Agree

Gender Equality 1. Gender does not have a direct influence on the success of educational leaders. 2. The presumption that men are more competent leaders initially discouraged me from applying for an educational leadership position. 3. I feel as though there is a gendered structure to educational leadership. 4. I have been told that leadership positions (i.e., vice-principal, principal, superintendent, director) are more suitable for male leaders. 5. When I discuss my current position in educational leadership with others, my gender as a women does not enter the conversation. 6. I feel there is an equal representation of male and female educational leaders, in all levels of the school board.

	Mentorship									
1. As a formerly aspiring female educational administrator, I was given the										
opportunity to work with a mentor.										
1	2	3	4	5						
				s, I feel as though there are different needs that must be pring process, for female educational administrators. 5						

3. I would feel more prepared to advance as a female educational administrator, if I										
completed a mentoring program prior to applying for the position.										
1 2	2	3	4	5						

Work and Family 1. I plan to postpone/have postponed applying for an educational leadership position for marriage. 2. I plan to postpone/have postponed applying for an educational leadership position for family. 3. I often worry about the effects my educational leadership position will have on my personal life. 4. I do not feel that an educational leadership position has impacted my personal life.

Recruitment/Hiring Practices 1. I am confident that my educational credentials (e.g., degrees, additional qualifications) were considered when applying for my current educational leadership position. 2. If I choose to advance to a higher educational leadership position in the future, I believe my gender will not influence the hiring process.

3. I feel as though women have achieved equal status in both the recruitment and hiring process of educational leadership positions. $1 \quad 2 \quad 3 \quad 4 \quad 5$

Optional Question:

Please describe any additional experiences or concerns you have in relation to gender and your current educational leadership position.

Thank you for your time and participation in this study. Please place your survey in the envelope when completed.

Appendix G: Survey for Aspiring Female Educational Administrators

Survey for Aspiring Female Educational Administrators

Part I

Directions for Part I: Please answer the following questions. Doing so will allow the researcher to get to know you.

Part I:

- 1. Please provide your birthdate: (month/year)
- 2. How many years did you teach, prior to considering an educational leadership position?

A) 5-7

B) 8-10

C) 10-12

D) 12-15

3. In order to prepare yourself for applying to an educational leadership position, please select the most accurate description of your post-graduate education:

A) Master's Degree in Education

B) 2 Specialists (Please Specify):

C) Master's Degree in another field besides Education (Please Specify):

D) Other (Please Specify):

4. Please provide the age at which you obtained your first teaching position:

(Continue to next page please)

Part II

Directions for Part II: Please evaluate the following statements and circle the number below the question, that you feel most accurately represents your experiences. Use the "1" to "5" scale below and circle each applicable number.

- 1. Strongly Disagree
- 2. Disagree
- 3. Neither Agree nor Disagree

opportunities within my school board.

- 4. Agree
- 5. Strongly Agree

Gender Equality 1. Gender does not have a direct influence on the success of educational leaders. 1 2 3 4 5 2. The presumption that men are more competent leaders has discouraged me from applying for an educational leadership position. 1 2 3 4 5 3. I feel as though there is a gendered structure to educational leadership. 1 2 3 4 5 4. I have been told that leadership positions (i.e., vice-principal, principal, superintendent, director) are more suitable for male leaders. 4 1 2 3 5 5. When I discuss my interest in educational leadership with others, I am encouraged to pursue them. 1 2 3 4 5 6. I feel there is an equal representation of male and female educational leaders, in all levels of the school board. 2 3 4 5 1 Mentorship 1. As an aspiring female educational administrator, I am aware of mentoring

123452. I feel as though there are different needs that must be addressed during the
mentoring process, for female educational administrators.
12345

3. I would feel more prepared to apply for an educational leadership position, if I completed a mentoring program prior to applying.
1 2 3 4 5

Work and Family 1. I plan to postpone/have postponed applying for an educational leadership position for marriage. 1 2 3 4 5 2. I plan to postpone/have postponed applying for an educational leadership position for family. 5 1 2 3 4 3. I often worry about the effects an educational leadership position will have on my personal life. 1 2 3 4 5 4. I do not feel that an educational leadership position will impact my personal life. 1 2 4 3 5

Recruitment/Hiring Practices

1. I am confident that my educational credentials (e.g., degrees, additional qualifications) will be considered when applying for a future educational leadership position.

1 2 3 4 5

2. I believe my gender will have no influence on the hiring process for an educational leadership position.

1 2 3 4 5

3. I feel as though women have achieved equal status in both the recruitment and hiring process of educational leadership. $1 \quad 2 \quad 3 \quad 4 \quad 5$

Optional Question:

Please describe any additional experiences or concerns you have in relation to gender and obtaining an educational leadership position.

Thank you for your time and participation in this study. Please place your survey in the envelope when completed.

Appendix H: Consent for Audio Taping of the Semi-Structured Interview



CONSENT FOR AUDIO TAPING

Research Participant:

Title of the Project: Women & Educational Leadership: Exploring the Experiences of Current and Aspiring Female Educational Administrators

I consent to the audio-taping of interviews, procedures, or treatment.

I understand these are voluntary procedures and that I am free to withdraw at any time by requesting that the taping be stopped. I also understand that my name will not be revealed to anyone and that taping will be kept confidential. Tapes are filed by number only and store in a locked cabinet.

I understand that confidentiality will be respected and that the audiotape will be for professional use only.

(Research Subject)

Appendix I: Semi-Structured Interview Protocol

Interview Protocol

Group A: female educators, who have demonstrated a desire to pursue an educational leadership position. Demonstration of their desire to pursue an educational leadership position will be determined by their preparation for applying to a posted position (i.e., additional qualifications, post-graduate education).

- 1. Tell me a little about your background. For example, where did you live? Where did you go to school? Did both your parents work?
- 2. Tell me about your educational background.
- 3. Why did you decide to become a teacher?
- 4. What interests you about being an educational administrator?
- 5. How many years of experience have you had in your current teaching position?
- 6. At what point in your teaching career did you develop an interest in educational administration?
- 7. How have you prepared yourself, in terms of qualifications, to apply for a leadership position?
- 8. How have you prepared yourself, in addition, to your qualifications, to apply for a leadership position (i.e., community involvement, leadership experience)?
- 9. What personal and professional benefits do you think there are to becoming an educational administrator?
- 10. In relation to gender, what, if any, are the perceived challenges to being an educational administrator?
- 11. What type of leadership style do you see yourself adopting upon being hired as an educational leader?
- 12. Are you aware of any formal or informal opportunities for prospective educational administrators to work with a mentor within your school board?
- 13. If yes, have you utilized these mentorship opportunities?

- 14. If you have utilized mentorship opportunities within your school board, please describe the preparation and guidance they provided you.
- 15. Describe, as best as you can, the leadership style you would like to adopt in the future.
- 16. As a female, do you ever feel as though your gender identity, as a female, conflicts with your identity as a future educational administrator?
- 17. Where do you see yourself in your career in approximately 5-10 years?
- 18. What advice would you provide to aspiring female educational administrators?

Group B: female educational administrators, who have successfully obtained a leadership position (e.g., vice-principal; principal; superintendent).

- 1. Tell me a little about your background. For example, where did you live? Where did you go to school? Did both your parents work?
- 2. Tell me about your educational background.
- 3. How long have you been in your current leadership position?
- 4. At what point in your teaching career did you develop an interest for educational administration?
- 5. At what point in your teaching career did you formally apply for an educational leadership position?
- 6. Were you successful in your first attempt to becoming an educational administrator?
- 7. In what ways did you prepare yourself to be eligible for an educational administrative position, at the time of your first application process (e.g., additional qualifications, years of experience, community involvement, leadership experience)?
- 8. If no, what explanation were you given as to why you did not receive the position (if applicable)?
- 9. Describe the outcome of your subsequent attempts.

- 10. Relating to your current position, were you given any formal or informal opportunities to work with a mentor?
- 11. If yes, describe your experiences while being mentored.
- 12. In relation to gender, what, if any, are the perceived challenges to being an educational administrator?
- 13. Do you feel respected as an educational administrator by your colleagues (i.e., both male and female colleagues)?
- 14. How would you describe your leadership style?
- 15. As a female educational administrator do you ever feel as though your identity as a female conflicts with your identity as an educational administrator? If yes, can you think of a time when this occurred?
- 16. In what ways has your school board/additional qualifications/post graduate education prepared you for your current position as a female administrator?
- 17. Were any of these methods geared specifically towards the needs of female administrators?
- 18. Have you ever considered pursuing a position as superintendent/director? Why or why not?
- 19. What personal and professional benefits do you think there are to being an educational administrator?
- 20. Have you ever felt a sense of obligation to lead in a specific way as a result of your gender?
- 21. Has anyone ever made you feel doubtful about a decision you were once confident with?
- 22. Where do you see yourself situated in your career in approximately 5-10 years?
- 23. What advice would you provide to aspiring female educational administrators?

Appendix J: List of Local Mental Health Agencies

1. Canadian Mental Health Association- Windsor-Essex County Branch

CMHA Windsor-Essex County Branch 1400 Windsor Avenue Windsor, Ontario, Canada N8X 3L9 Telephone: (519) 255-7440

2. Regional Mental Health Care

875 Ouellette Ave, 2nd Floor Windsor, Ontario N9A 4J6 Telephone: (519) 254-3486

3. Windsor Regional Hospital

Community Mental Health Clinic 1453 Prince Rd, Windsor, Ontario N9C 3Z4 Telephone: (519) 257 -5125

4. Community Crisis Centre of Windsor and Essex County

Hotel-Dieu Grace Hospital 1030 Ouellette Ave, Windsor, Ontario N9A 1E1 Telephone: (519) 973 – 4411 ext. 3003 Crisis Phone: (519) 973 - 4435

VITA AUCTORIS

Kimberly Crosby-Hillier was born in Windsor, Ontario, in 1984. She began her studies at the University of Windsor in 2003. In 2007, Kimberly graduated "*With Distinction*" from the University of Windsor, with an honour's degree in Psychology. After obtaining her Bachelor of Arts (Honours), Kimberly pursued her passion for teaching and began her studies in the University of Windsor's Faculty of Education in 2007, graduating with her Bachelor of Education in 2008. Upon the completion of her Bachelor of Education degree, Kimberly began teaching in Alberta with the Fort McMurray Catholic School District. In 2009, she began her teaching career with the Windsor-Essex Catholic District School Board and decided to pursue a graduate degree in Education. Kimberly is currently in the final stages of her Master's degree in Educational Administration and has recently been accepted into the University of Windsor's Joint PhD in Educational Studies program, where she will pursue a Doctorate degree in Educational Leadership and Policy Studies.